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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”)
of Daqging Dairy Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present to you the annual results for the year ended 31 December
2011.

At the request of the Company, trading in the shares of the
Company has been suspended since 22 March 2012 due to the
resignation of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the predecessor auditors of
the Company (the “Predecessor Auditors”) and delay in publication
of the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the years ended 31 December 2011,
2012, 2013 and 2014 and the interim results thereof.

On 21 March 2012, the Board and audit committee of the Company
received a letter from the Predecessor Auditors advising their
resignation as auditors of the Company. As set out in the
resignation letter dated 21 March 2012 from the Predecessor
Auditors advising their concerns (the “Potential Irregularities”) to the
financial statements including: 1) certain milk procurement
transactions brought to the attention of former management and
acknowledged by them to be fraudulent; 2) unexplained differences
between sales receipt notes sighted during audit work in February
2012 and documents purporting to be the same sales receipt notes
returned to the Company in March 2012 ostensibly following a Tax
Bureau investigation; 3) the explanation provided by former
management — The Tax Bureau investigation — for removing
accounting records which were then not available to the Predecessor
Auditors continuously during the audit; 4) the validity and
commercial substance of acquisitions of milk stations, farm houses
and Holstein cattle; and 5) difficulties of which the Predecessor
Auditors encountered during their visits to the local branch of one
of the Group’s banks.

An independent review committee comprised of those independent
non-executive directors at that material time and other qualified
independent individuals was established in March 2012 to conduct a
review on the Potential Irregularities. Subsequently, the independent
review committee was dissolved due to the resignations of those
independent non-executive directors.
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On 2 January 2013, it was discovered that the heating pipes of the
offices of the subsidiary, KAEIL MM AR EE A (for identification
purpose, Da Qing Dairy Ltd.) located in Daqing City, Heilongjiang
Province of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), were cracked
as result of severe coldness (below minus 32T) in the northern area
of the PRC and pipeline aging. Due to cracking of the heating
pipes, the first and second floors of the offices had been soaked,
and extensive damages were done to the office facilities, computers
and documents in the offices of the finance, logistics, administration
and engineering departments of the Group.

On 8 February 2013, the then controlling shareholder of the
Company, Mr. Zhao Yu, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
pursuant to which Mr. Zhao agreed to sell and Radiant State Limited
(the “New Controlling Shareholder”) agreed to purchase the sale
shares, representing approximately 52.16% of the entire share capital
of the Company at a consideration of HK$52,704,000, representing
HK$0.1 per sale share (the “General Purchase”). As disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 5 July 2013, the New
Controlling Shareholder received valid acceptances in respect of a
total 83,153,622 shares in the Company under the unconditional
mandatory cash offer (the “Share Acceptance”), representing 8.23%
of the entire issued share capital of the Company. Following
completion of the General Purchase and the Share Acceptance, the
New Controlling Shareholder held 60.39% equity interest in the
Company.

On 5 September 2013, Mr. Ng Kwong Chue Paul was appointed as
executive Director, Ms. Kou Mei In was appointed as non-executive
Director and Mr. Sze Lin Tang was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director.

On 6 November 2013, the Company has engaged RSM Corporate
Advisory (Hong Kong) Limited (formerly known as “RSM Nelson
Wheeler Corporate Advisory Limited”) (the “Forensic Accountants”)
to provide forensic accounting services to the Company. The Forensic
Accountants were engaged to investigate and to evaluate the
Potential Irregularities raised by the Predecessor Auditors and to
identify any person who may be responsible for the Potential
Irregularities, if applicable (the “Forensic Investigation”).
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The current management of the Company has been making every
effort to facilitate the Forensic Accountants in Forensic Investigation.
However, (1) the Forensic Accountants were yet to commence their
field work as the Company and the Forensic Accountants have
encountered difficulties in procuring relevant parties including the
previous management of the Group to cooperate in the field work
of the Forensic Investigation; (2) two PRC law firms were engaged
with the objectives to (i) effect the change of legal representatives
and board of directors of Da Qing Dairy, Heilongjiang Chang Qing
Dairy Products Co., Ltd. (BEIFEILEBREMTAA) and
Wuchang Benniu Muye Co., Ltd (AEEFHREBRETAR)
(collectively referred as to the “PRC Subsidiaries”) through legal
means; and (i) obtain information requested by the Forensic
Accountants; and (3) the contemplate change of respective legal
representatives of the PRC Subsidiaries could not be effected and
due to insufficient financial resources of the Company, the Forensic
Investigation has been temporarily halted.

Subsequently, the New Controlling Shareholder appointed two
individuals into the board of directors of its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Global Milk Products Pte. Ltd, which is incorporated in
the Republic of Singapore (“Global Milk”). However, the Directors
could not locate complete books and records of the Company and
Global Milk and the previous managements of the Company and
Global Milk have continued ignoring the request for any
information.

Given the circumstances that the books and records of the
Company, Global Milk and the PRC Subsidiaries have been unable to
locate and access and in the absence of the Group's previous
management to explain and validate the true state of the affairs of
the Company, it would be extremely difficult and time consuming to
ascertain the true and correct financial position and performance of
the Company. A reconstruction of the correct accounting records
would also be almost impossible as it will be necessary to verify the
information with external and independent sources and such sources
may not be available or may be unreliable due to their connections
with the Group’s previous management or those responsible for the
financial information which the Predecessor Auditors identified the
Potential Irregularities within and outside of the Group.

ARAREEREBBED N HYEESETED
EITEBRASE - A )VAEFFHEIH KRR
MAZETHE BAAERRAIEE SRR
FEBAL(BEAKEATERE AELR
HZERAETERBINE: QEZEMR
FEAMESA TEENR: (VEBER
BFEERAELmMB REIFEAXER
BEERARAEARHETHEERACARM
BREMBRARDZEZRRRIEEES
RNVEISEZBSTEMFEERER RGP EK
BRARIEBZERERRAETESHAREET
MARARBMBEERTE EZRABEEE
BEApIE o

HEg FIEBRBREEAMBALIAEERE
b B ~ 7] Global Milk Products Pte. Ltd (%7
DN £ A0 B 5 B S2) ([Global Milk]) 2 &= %
& o SR BEEAREIK B AL T KGlobal Milk
B EEBR i & 52 8% - ™ A A A) XGlobal Milk
AMIEEE—BTEREeRIITMERNS

BN AKX R EHARF - Global Milk &
BB AR 2 R RADEE - N LA R
TEEEIES  THEBERREARFZ
EEEHMN BHBEARAZEE R ILE
BB MRARREEESRENER - BHIE
HE ST ET TR AALt 8RR
SNEB R B BB RIRZBEE R - IR AT B
BEMERKIR  HAIREREAREEFIEE
EEXAEMIRHMBRNECEERFRL
MBEERZAEBRBRIBALEBNE
OLIE



On 14 May 2015, The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) issued a letter to the Company informing that the
Company was placed in the first delisting stage pursuant to Practice
Note 17 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

On 19 November 2015, the Stock Exchange issued a letter to the
Company stating that the Company was placed in the second
delisting stage. The Company should provide a viable resumption
proposal at least 10 business days before 3 May 2016 (the expiry
date of second delisting stage) to:

1 demonstrate sufficient operations of assets under rule 13.24 of
the Listing Rules;

2)  conduct forensic investigation on the issues raised by the
Predecessor Auditors, disclose the findings of the investigation
and take any remedial actions;

3)  demonstrate that there is no reasonable regulatory concern
about the character, level of due care and integrity the
Company’'s management which will pose a risk to investors
and damage market confidence;

4)  publish all outstanding financial results and address any audit
qualification;

5)  demonstrate that the Company has put in place adequate
financial reporting procedures and internal control systems to
meet obligations under the Listing Rules; and

6) inform the market of material information for the shareholders
and the investors to appraise the Group's operation.

On 4 May 2015, the New Controlling Shareholder entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with Global Courage Limited (“Global
Courage”) pursuant to which the New Controlling Shareholder
agreed to sell and Global Courage agreed to purchase the sale
shares, representing approximately 60.39% of the entire share
capital of the Company at a consideration of approximately
HK$61,019,000, representing HK$0.1 per sale share. Upon
completion of the sales and purchase agreement, Global Courage is
required to make an unconditional mandatory general offer in cash
for all the issued shares of the Company other than those already
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owned by Global Courage and parties acting in concert with it
under the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers (the
“Takeovers Code”). Head & Shoulders Securities Limited will, on
behalf of Global Courage, make the offer, which is unconditional in
all respects in compliance with the Takeovers Code, at HK$0.10 per
offer share, which is the same as the price per sale share paid by
Global Courage to the New Controlling Shareholder under the sale
and purchase agreement.

It is expected that the potential investor will review the operations
of the Group and explore any other business opportunities that may
arise in the market, which does not limit to any particular industry,
from time to time that it considers value enhancing to shareholders
of the Company and/or otherwise in the best interests of the Group.
The management of the Company will prepare a viable resumption
proposal to be submitted to the Stock Exchange for application of
resumption of trading of shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange.

Chairlady
Kou Mei In

Hong Kong, 21 January 2016
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Due to the loss of control over the subsidiaries in Singapore and in
the PRC, the financial statements of those subsidiaries have been
de-consolidated from the consolidated financial information of the
Group. The financial statements as at and for the year ended 31
December 2011 comprise the Company. There was no turnover for
the year (Group’s turnover for the year ended 31 December 2010:
approximately RMB921,886,000). The loss for the year ended 31
December 2011 was approximately RMB1,607,997,000 (2010:
Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2010: approximately
RMB260,588,000). The loss for the year mainly attributed from the
losses on deconsolidation of subsidiaries and incomplete books and
records in respect of the bank balances and cash of approximately
RMB1,583,093,000 million (2010 Group: Nil) and RMB11,520,000
(2010 Group: Nil) respectively.

PROSPECTS

The Board is in the process of identifying suitable target for business
cooperation and/or acquisition and preparing for the resumption
proposal.

DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010 Group: Nil).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2011, the Company had total assets of
approximately RMB3,000 (2010 Group's total assets: approximately
RMB1,882,322,000). The main asset of the Company as at
31 December 2011 was bank balances and cash. During the year
under review, the Company has yet to have any financial
restructuring plan.
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As at 31 December 2011, the Company’s current liabilities amounted
to approximately RMB5,225,000 (2010 Group’s current liabilities:
approximately RMB168,356,000).

The net liabilities value per share of the Company was approximately
RMBO0.005 as at 31 December 2011 (2010: net asset value per share
of the Group approximately RMB1.57). The net assets/liabilities value
per share was computed based on 1,010,500,000 ordinary shares in
issue as at 31 December 2011 and 2010 respectively.

The gearing ratio as computed based on total interest bearing
indebtedness over total assets. No gearing ratio was computed as
the Company did not have interest bearing indebtedness as at
31 December 2011 (2010 Group: approximately 5.3%).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2011, the Company had no charges on its assets
(2010 Group: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Company had no changes in capital structure during the year
ended 31 December 2011.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT AND ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Company did not enter any new significant investment and
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries during the year ended
31 December 2011 (2010 Group: Nil).

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Company’s functional currency is RMB. The foreign currency risk
of the Company is the foreign currency deposited in the bank. As at
31 December 2011, the Company had bank balances of
approximately RMB3,000 (2010 Group: approximately
RMB2,483,000); Nil (2010 Group: approximately RMB550,000) and
Nil (2010 Group: approximately RMB9,897,000) denominated in USD,
SGD and HKD respectively.

RZE——F+-_A=+—H 238K
FaBLYHAEANRES225000T (ZE—F4F
AEBHREEE: A R 168,356,000
JT) °

KRR ZE——F+_A=+—HHNER
BEEFEOBARKST(ZTE—TF:
AEBBREEFEHNARBEISTT) - B
BE/ABEFEDNRESIR-_ZE—FR
T E-EZFF+ A=+ —HEETH
1,010,500,0008% L@ AL 51 & -

A B R VLA A8 B I D A
%o N-F-——E+=A=+—A HmE
HAEAMBLE  BAKARL SIS EY
(RRE=F—F % 45.3%) -

EEEH

RZE——F+-_A=+—H ARQFHE
BT MEE(KER _T—ZTF : T)-

BB

HE-Z——F+-A=+—BLEE &
ARMERR B EED -

EAREURKBRHENE QT

BE_F——F+t-A=T-HLFE &
AEW BT SLAEAHEAREN R R
EHMBRAI(AER_Z—FF:F)-

H 5 L B

ARRZMEEEEARE « XQAR) ZINE
BB ABTRIBITZNE R=ZT——F+=
A=Z+—8 ARQRAET  Fmg ks
TLRTEZRITHEH D R4 A A REE3,0005T
(REEZZ—ZF : HHAR2,483,0007T) *
T(AEE_ZT—ZF: HH AR¥550,0007T)
EE(XREBE -4 : $ AR¥9,897,000
JL) °



Executive Directors

Mr. Ng Kwong Chue, Paul (& Y E) (“Mr. Ng”), aged 45, was
appointed as the executive Director on 5 September 2013. He holds
a bachelor degree in Commerce from the University of Melbourne.
He is a member of each of CPA Australia, Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and Hong Kong Investor Relations
Association, and a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors. He has many years of experience in corporate finance,
corporate restructuring and taxation gained from international
accounting firms. Mr. Ng also serves as an executive director,
authorised representative, company secretary and chief investment
officer of New Silkroad Culturaltainment Limited (formerly known as
“JLF Investment Company Limited”) (Stock Code: 472). He was the
co-founder of China Innovation Investment Limited (Stock Code:
1217) and had acted as the executive director and non-executive
director of the company from April 2003 to May 2006 and from
May 2006 to May 2013 respectively. Mr. Ng is also the honorary
chairman for Macao ASEAN International Chamber of Commerce,
the honorary president for Fujian Province Shishi Yuhu Care Charity
Association and The General Association of Xiamen (H.K.) Ltd.

Mr. Wang Delin (E&#k) (“Mr. Wang”), aged 58, was appointed
as our executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company
on 18 August 2011. He has extensive experience in the dairy
industry and outstanding corporate management skills. During his
term of office in Gong Da Group Heilongjiang Dairy Group (LK%
Bl25ETF %% E), the annual income of that company surged from
RMB1 billion (with net loss of RMBO.1 billion) to RMB3.5 billion (with
net profit of RMBO0.3 billion) under his leadership. Between July
1985 and May 1988, Mr. Wang studied in Harbin Ship Engineering
Institute (W E B M M T2 EBT) and graduated in moral and
education profession (BB A A H ) of the Faculty of Social
Sciences. During 1989 to 1996, he worked in Harbin Wood
Integrated Processing Factory (" BB /RM 4R & M1 LIHR) as the deputy
manager. During 1996 to July 2011, he held positions as the
chairman and general manager in Gong Da Group Heilongjiang
Dairy Group (T REB BT XEH).
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Non-executive Director

Ms. Kou Mei In (§3E#) (“Ms. Kou"), aged 41, was appointed as the
non-executive Director and chairlady on 5 September 2013. She is a
member of each of the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) of the Company. She is the wife of Mr. Kyan Su Lone
who is the sole director of Radiant State Limited, the then controlling
shareholder of the Company. Ms. Kou graduated with a bachelor
degree in Economics from Sun Yat-Sen University in 2000. Ms. Kou has
over 7 years' experience in corporate management, real estate
development and financial investment. Currently, Ms. Kou is the
chairman of Chong Ou Seng Tourism Company Limited (77383 ik 5
R A &), Golf-Time Property Company Limited CBFI & X E AR
/A A)) and Jing Fu-Servicos De Recurso Humano Limitada (£ A H&
JRAE PR A 7A]) and the general manager of Kyan International Holdings

Company Limited (FJ/SBEIBEIZERERAE]). Ms. Kou is also an
executive director of Macao ASEAN International Chamber of

Commerce, the honorary president of Ha Mun Friendship General
Association of Macao and a member of The Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference Xiamen Committee.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Sze Lin Tang (FEZE ) (“"Mr. Sze”), aged 45, was appointed as
the independent non-executive Director on 5 September 2013. He is
the chairman of each of the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) of the Company, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee. He is currently a director of a certified
public accountants firm. Mr. Sze is a member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong
and the Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. Mr. Sze has
over 20 years of working experience in accounting, auditing and
taxation sectors.
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Mr. Qiu Xiaohua (EBEEZE) (“Mr. Qiu”), aged 58, was appointed as
the independent non-executive Director on 24 January 2014. He is a
member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. He graduated from the
Department of Economics of Xiamen University, and received his
Ph.D. from Beijing Normal University. He is a senior statistician. He
has held several positions including secretary to the Communist
Party Committee and chief of National Bureau of Statistics of China,
senior researcher for China National Offshore Oil Corporation, part-
time professor of Xinhuadu Business School. Mr. Qiu has been
appointed as an executive director and vice-chairman of Zijin Mining
Group Company Limited (Stock Code: 2899) since May 2012. He was
the chief economist of Minsheng Securities from 1 September 2012
to 30 August 2015.
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The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands and its principal place of business in Hong Kong is
Room 2512, 25/F., Cosco Tower, 183 Queen’s Road Central, Hong
Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and its principal
subsidiaries are engaged in the production, marketing, and sale of
medium-to-high and premium-priced milk formula products in China.
The principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The results of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2011
are set out in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 53.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2011
and the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2011 are
set out in the financial statements on pages 53 to 171.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the
share premium and accumulated losses which in aggregate
amounted to approximately RMB(5,231,000) as at 31 December
2011 (2010: premium and retained earnings of approximately
RMB(1,590,997,000)).
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DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: Nil).

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets during the year are set out in
note 15 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 24 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this

report were:
Executive Directors

Mr. Ng Kwong Chue Paul
(appointed on 5 September 2013)
Mr. Wang Delin (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 18 August 2011)
Mr. Fu Chong
(resigned on 1 October 2012)
Mr. Xia Yuan Jun
(resigned on 3 January 2013)
Mr. Fong Pin Jan
(resigned on 10 January 2013)
Mr. Zhao Yu
(resigned on 10 January 2013)
Mr. Zhao Chuan Wen
(resigned on 21 January 2013)

Non-executive Director

Ms. Kou Mei In (Chairlady)
(appointed on 5 September 2013)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Sze Lin Tang
(appointed on 5 September 2013)
Mr. Qiu Xiaohua
(appointed on 24 January 2014)
Mr. Cheung Hok Fung Alexander
(resigned on 15 June 2012)
Mr. Zhang Zhou
(resigned on 15 May 2012)
Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman
(resigned on 14 June 2012)
Mr. Chiang Chi Kin Stephen
(appointed on 28 November 2012 and
resigned on 31 December 2013)
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Pursuant to article 84(1) of the articles of association of the
Company, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once
every three years. All Directors were appointed after the last annual
general meeting of the Company. No Director shall retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and shall then
be eligible, offer himself for rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

By virtue of article 83(3) of the articles of association of the
Company, the Directors shall have the power from time to time and
at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing Board.
Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office until the first general meeting of Shareholders after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
The Directors namely Mr. Ng Kwong Chue Paul, Mr. Wang Delin,
Ms. Kou Mei In, Mr. Sze Lin Tang and Mr. Qiu Xiaohua shall hold
office only until the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible, offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Each of the Directors, except Mr. Wang Delin, has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing from the date of appointment. Mr. Wang has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial
fixed term commencing from 18 August 2011 to 27 October 2013
as an executive director of the Company. Subsequent to the issue of
the joint announcement of the Company and Global Courage
Limited dated 23 June 2015, the Company received the request from
Mr. Wang Delin to resign as an executive Director (the
“Resignation”). The Resignation will be effective from the earliest
time permitted under the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and
Mergers, the Listing Rules and other applicable laws. Details of the
Resignation were set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 3 July 2015 and 14 July 2015.

2011 F %R

REARRERMAEANG  EEEBRR
BFEREL ER=02-MNEZR(EHEAR
WI=Q)HIEE - AINZKEREBTIIR=D
Z—HABIERAERET EBUEEHVA
BOB=FRERRBFRELERE—KR- &2
BEFORARBALERRBEFASEREZ
T - MBEEFTVHARARAEERRBEFK
SLRE YRR ARELABERBREESL -

REARRERMRIEIQ)G  EFHAED
BEEREZEERNALTRESTNEMRRRE
FETRABIES RESSLTHEMER
HERNTAEFA-EEETXBE EE
ARBBTHEZERNEERRRE R -
WREZAELBEEEE MEEESEEN
MARBEEFENEMNESE @ MIAZEZR
BEEARBARTTERRBFRERL
IREZAGLEBERBEEE - EF
RNIEBERE - TRMELE  SXFHLXLT Ik
BRAENIBBEELL)AEEZBE B
ERARFEERRBFRER/L  IREAR
BAEERRBFASLAERBREBME -

BEE(EEBMELERINERARAFTLE
TE VLB LZEEHHRHRE=F - T5&
EEEARRNTFILRGHE  BEERRTH
TES NS AEBHE - ——FN\A+/\H
BFZE_E—=Ft+AZ++H - ARFIH
Global Courage Limited A=Z—HF A=
T=ZBHEBE R SR AAREETEMA
EEBERNTERTZHR(Z28]) - 288
BEBRAIWERA TR - ETHARRRE
tEREEMAFAZEERERLER - 28
ZHBERARRBMR _ZE—HF Lt A=
ARZZE—AFEATHAZASE o

19



20

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited Annual Report 2011

Please refer to the section of Independent Non-executive Directors
under the Corporate Governance Report for the annual confirmation
of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2011, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) which were notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provision of the SFO) or which were
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
follows:

BERARE EHRAEIBRAEBLIEELHF
BHERBZEFR  F2HLCEERABSTZE
MIFRITTES —H -
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ERORBEEENEZINAR

R-E——F+-A=+—H B=ERARQ
AIEBTHRABRARAREMRE LR (T
ERFEHFLBEGRA(ESRBEENDE
XVED) B - HER D REREERESRIE
BELIPEEMIEXVIETRSD HAEME K
RAEIRBROERI A (BEFERE
FBHEMBEGONE BIE R EIERR B
EMEZSKRE)  RIBIEEF KB EEF
FEI2E AR RN ZGML T ek
KA HRBE LM ETAESETESRS
RIZESTRI(BESFR D AN S ARQR) R
RETHER A BT

Number of Approximate

underlying percentage of

Number of shares held the issued

issued ordinary pursuant to share capital of

Name of Director Capacity shares held share options Total the Company

B RET 8

FrisE 8T R HE HAEATE BT

EEnE &% ZRERKREE i 4= eH BASAHBESL

Mr. Zhao Yu Beneficial owner 527,172,000 (L) — 527,172,000 52.17%
T kA& EmEaA

Mr. Xia Yuan Jun Beneficial owner — 3,000,000 (L) 3,000,000 0.30%
ETESRSE Em#EAA

Mr. Fu Chong Beneficial owner — 3,000,000 (L) 3,000,000 0.30%
<9 % & EalA A

Mr. Fong Pin Jan Beneficial owner — 3,000,000 (L) 3,000,000 0.30%

T RERE

(L): Long position
e

BEmfEAA



Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to
have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to
be recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the financial year was
the Company, or any of its holding companies, its subsidiaries or its
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors and chief executives of the Company (including their
spouses and children under 18 years of age) to hold any interest or
short positions in the shares, or underlying shares, or debentures, of
the Company or its associated corporations (with the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO).
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2011, the following persons or corporations
(other than Directors or chief executives of the Company) were
interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the
Company which were recorded in the register of interests required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or
to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO and the Listing Rules:

FTERRRRG  HBERORE
EENREERKXE

R-ZTE——F+-_A=+—8 U TFAL(E
B AR EZTHRABRINEARB IR
BEASLHEIENEIB6IKEEFTENERE
RMATR  KRIRIEES R EEGEXVE
BRI HAMEX R EMBANEARENEAR
RIE BT AR A%k A EHE

Approximate
percentage of the

Number of issued issued share capital

Name of Shareholder Capacity ordinary shares held of the Company

e &1 EARRE LT

IR R & & % EBERHE REBMUBED L

Ever Union Capital Limited (Note) Beneficial owner 67,000,000 (L) 6.63%
(H3F) ZEBHEAA

Che Fung (Note) Beneficial owner 67,000,000 (L) 6.63%

B (Kt ) EmEAA
(L):  Long position
HE
Note: Ever Union Capital Limited (“Ever Union”) (a company incorporated in the British

Virgin Islands with limited liability) is 100% directly owned by Mr. Che Fung.
Therefore, Mr. Che Fung is deemed to be interested in the shares of the
Company held by Ever Union.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, the Company had
not been notified by any person or company, other than Directors or
chief executives of the Company whose interest are set out in the
section headed “DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES” in this report, who had interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in
the register to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO.
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The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) which was approved by the written resolutions of all the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and adopted by
the resolutions of the Board passed on 10 October 2010 (the
“Adoption Date”). The Share Option Scheme is for a period of 10
years commencing from the Adoption Date, after which period no
further options shall be granted.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to reward the
Participants (as defined below) who have contributed to the Group
and to encourage the participants to work towards enhancing the
value of the Company and its Shares for the benefit of the
Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may offer (the “Offer”)
options to the Directors (including executive Directors, non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors and any of their
respective associates) and employees (including any of their
associates) of the Group, companies owned by directors of the
Group and any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors,
suppliers, agents, customers, business partners, joint venture
business partners, promoters, service providers of any member of the
Group who the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have
contributed or will contribute to the Group (the “Participants”), to
subscribe for Shares in the Company in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme.

The total number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed 10% in
nominal amount of the aggregate of Shares in issue on the Listing
Date without prior approval from the Shareholders. The maximum
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to a single Participant under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue for the time
being.

Any Offer will remain open for acceptance by a Participant for 28
days from the date of grant and is deemed to be accepted when
the Company receives from the relevant Participant the Offer letter
signed by him/her specifying the number of Shares in respect of
which the Offer is accepted and a remittance to the Company of
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HK$1.00 as consideration for the grant of option. The option may
be exercised at any time during the period to be determined and
notified by the Board to the Participant at the time of making an
Offer which shall not be later than 10 years from the date of grant.
The exercise price will be determined by the Board, and but in any
event shall not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of
the Shares, (ii) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, or (iii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
Business Days immediately preceding the date of grant.

Details of the movements in share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2011 are as

REFERRUENZRETLINE2HE
ZHEARERTE  EAEREBMEFTE
HIBI0F - (THEERHEETSET  HER
] SRR ()0 YRR EME - (DA K3
h BRI B X P M ) B H R (E R AT IR A IR
B - (i) EE R B E A R EE %
BEBIMEMNEARERMRN TR
ME=fFhz&a%E

RE-S——F+-A=+—HILFE &

ERERESIRONBERENESFEL

follows: ™
Granted  Exercised Lapsed Cancelled Exercise
Date of Grant Outstanding at ~ during the during the during the  during the Outstanding at price
Name of Category of Share Option 01.01.2011 year year year year 31.12.2011 Vesting Period Exercise Period (HKS)
RZB--F RZB--F
-A-H +=A=+-8 R
HHER BRERLAN 117 6 FRRE  FATE  FA%R FREH HRTHE BRAE TEH (&)
Directors:
Ex:
Mr. Xia Yuan Jun 28.04.2011 0 3,000,000 0 0 0 3,000,000 28.4.2011-27.10.2014 28.10.2012-27.10.2014 3512
(resigned on 3
January 2013)
—F--FMAZtAR “F--FMA-tN\RE  ZF-FTA-tNRE
(1 “E-RETAZTLA “2-BETAZTLA
—AZB#H)
Mr. Fu Chong 28.04.2011 0 3,000,000 0 0 0 3,000,000 28.4.2011-27.10.2014 28.10.2012-2710.2014 3512
(resigned on
1 October 2012)
AHEE “2-—EWA-tAR “E--fMA-TN\BE “E-CETACTNRE
(R=%--f ZE-RETAZTLER “ER-META=TLA
+A-BEE)
Mr. Fong Pin Jan 28.04.2011 0 3,000,000 0 0 0 3,000,000 28.4.2011-27.10.2014 28.10.2012-27.10.2014 3512
(resigned on 10
January 2013)
ARERE “E--EQMAZTAR “Z--EMAZTNBE E-ETAZTNRE
(R=Z-=£ ZE-PmETAZTLR “E-METAZTLA
—ATBEEE)
Other Employees: 28.04.2011 0 18,000,000 0 0 0 18,000,000 28.4.2011-27.10.2014 28.10.2012-27.10.2014 3512
EthiEg: —F-—fNA=tNB —ET-—§mA-tN\BE —Z-ZFtAZ+N\AZE
ZE-RETAZTLER “ER-META=TLA
Total:
S 0 27,000,000 0 0 0 27,000,000




Save as disclosed above, there were no options outstanding,
granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the year ended 31
December 2011.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, the Company had maintained the public float as required
under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, no Directors or their respective associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance to which the Company, its holding
companies, or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the
reporting period or at any time during the reporting period.

DELAY IN DESPATCH OF ANNUAL REPORT FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

Due to suspension of trading in the Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange and losing control of subsidiaries operated in Singapore
and in the PRC, the Company has not been able to despatch the
annual report for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 (the
“Annual Report”) to its members within the due date as required by
the Listing Rules.

The delay in the despatch of the Annual Report constitutes a breach
of Rule 13.46(2) of the Listing Rules by the Company.
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NON-COMPLIANCE OF APPENDIX 16
“DISCLOSURE OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION"” OF
THE LISTING RULES

Given the circumstances that the Directors lose control of
subsidiaries operated in Singapore and in the PRC and unable to
locate and to get access to the complete books and records of the
de-consolidated subsidiaries, no sufficient data available to compile
the annual report for the year ended 31 December 2011 so as to
comply with the Appendix 16 “Disclosure of Financial Information”
of the Listing Rules. The following information has been omitted
from this annual report:

1. Connected transactions and continuing connected transactions
with the connected person as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules;

2. Details of related party transactions;

3. Details of the number and remuneration of employees,
remuneration policies, and the retirement benefits scheme;,

4. Details of commitments and contingent liabilities; and

5. Information in respect of major customers and major suppliers.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past four financial periods is set out in the financial
summary section on page 172 of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
financial year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

Save as disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements, there is no
other significant events occurred after the reporting date and up to
the date of signing this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Full details on the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out on pages 29 to 40.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established with written terms of reference which are in line with
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules and the existing Audit Committee comprises
two independent non-executive Directors.

The existing Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2011.
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AUDITORS

On 21 March 2012, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the then auditors of
the Company resigned and HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
("HLB") has been appointed as auditors of the Company on 3 July
2015. The financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2011 have been audited by HLB who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

By order of the Board

Ms. Kou Mei In

Chairlady

Hong Kong, 21 January 2016
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating the
elements of good corporate governance in the management
structures and internal control procedures of the Group so as to
achieve effective accountability to the Shareholders as a whole.
Thus, the Company adopted the principles and the code provisions
of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

In accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules, the
Company has established an audit committee (the "Audit
Committee”). The Company has also established a nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and a remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) with defined terms of
reference. The terms of reference of these Board committees are
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website.

The existing Board except Mr. Wang Delin (who tendered to resign
as an executive Director as per the announcements of the Company
dated 3 July 2015 and 14 July 2015) (the “Existing Board”) has
reviewed the Company’'s corporate governance practice for the
financial year under review, and has formed the opinion that the
Existing Board was unable to comment on the compliance of the CG
Code for the year ended 31 December 2011 due to incomplete
records of the Company from the previous Board. The Existing Board
is of the view that apart from achieving the resumption of the
Company, one of its main priorities in 2016 is to improve the
corporate governance of the Group.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the model code as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as the required standard
for securities transactions by Directors. The Existing Board was
unable to make specific enquiry of all past Directors, whether they
have complied with the required standard set in the Model Code
and its code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions
for the year ended 31 December 2011 due to the fact that past
Directors were uncontactable and incomplete records of the
Company from the previous Board.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board of Directors

As at 31 December 2011, the Board comprises six executive
Directors, namely Mr. Zhao Chuan Wen, Mr. Zhao Yu (being the
chairman), Mr. Xia Yuan Jun, Mr. Fu Chong, Mr. Fong Pin Jan and
Mr. Wang Delin (being the chief executive officer); and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Hok Fung
Alexander, Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman and Mr. Zhang Zhou.

The roles of the chairman and chief executive officer are segregated
and are not exercised by the same individual.

Functions of the Board

The principal function of the Board is to consider and approve
strategies, financial objectives, annual budget, investment proposals
of the Group and to assume the responsibilities of corporate
governance of the Group. The Board delegates the authority and
responsibility for implementing day-to-day operations, business
strategies and management of the Group’s businesses to the
executive Directors, senior management and certain specific
responsibilities to the Board committees.

Board Meetings and Board Practices

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Board held nine
board meetings. The Directors can attend meetings in person or
through other means of electronic communication in accordance
with the Company’s articles of association. All Directors may access
the advice and services of the company secretary who regularly
updates the Board on governance and regulatory matters. All
Directors will also be provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties, and upon reasonable request, the Directors will be able
to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense. All minutes of board
meetings were recorded in sufficient detail of the matters
considered by the Board and the decisions reached.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011, nine board meetings, one
annual general meeting and one extraordinary general meeting were
held. Details of the attendance of Directors are as follows:
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BE_T——F+-_A=+—HBLFE" B
BOINREZEEHE  —ABRRBFRER
—RERFHIAE - BEEZHEFBET:

Annual Extraordinary

Board General General
Name of the Director Meeting Meeting Meeting
EEnE Exggl RREBEFKE RRBIKXE
Executive Directors
BITES
Mr. Zhao Yu (Chairman) (resigned on 10 January 2013)
WFEEE(EE)(R_ZE—=F—A+HEE) 9/9 1/1 1/1
Mr. Fong Pin Jan (resigned on 10 January 2013)
FREEEMV-ZE—=F—ATHEE) 7/9 171 171
Mr. Fu Chong (resigned on 1 October 2012)
AwMEsE(R=_T——F+A—8EMD) 5/9 11 11
Mr. Wang Delin (appointed on 18 August 2011)
TEMEERZZE——FNAT\BEZT) 171 N/A N/A
Mr. Xia Yuan Jun (resigned on 3 January 2013)
ENERERZZE—=F—R=HEI) 4/9 0/1 0/1
Mr. Zhao Chuan Wen (resigned on 21 January 2013)
BMEXEE(RZTE—=F—A=T—H&MT) 8/9 0/1 0/1
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHTES
Mr. Cheung Hok Fung Alexander (resigned on 15 June 2012)
REBEE(R-ZT——FXATRHAZT) 4/9 1/1 1/1
Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman (resigned on 14 June 2012)
MEFLT(RNZT—ZFNATTBET) 7/9 171 171
Mr. Zhang Zhou (resigned on 15 May 2012)
RARER-ZT——FRA+TEBHT) 6/9 171 1/1
CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF EEHEZXZE

DIRECTORS

The Existing Board was unable to obtain the confirmation on the
participation in continuous professional development of past
Directors for the year ended 31 December 2011 due to the fact that
past Directors were uncontactable and incomplete records of the
Company from the previous Board.
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Directors’ Appointment, Re-election and Removal

Mr. Wang has entered into a services contract agreement with an
initial fixed term from 18 August 2011 to 27 October 2013 being as
an executive Director. Each of the Directors, except Mr. Wang Delin,
has entered into a service contract or appointment letter with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the
date of appointment, and subject to termination in accordance with
the provisions of the service contract or appointment letter giving
the other not less than three months’ prior written notice.

By virtue of article 83(3) of the articles of association of the
Company, the Directors shall have the power from time to time and
at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing Board.
Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office until the first general meeting of Shareholders after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In compliance with the code provision in A.4.2 of the CG Code all
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. Furthermore, pursuant to the article 84(1) of the articles
of association of the Company, at each annual general meeting one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least
once every three years.

Regarding the resignations of the Directors, Mr. Fu Chong, Mr. Xia
Yuan Jun, Mr. Fong Pin Jan, Mr. Zhou Yu and Mr. Zhao Chuan Wen
resigned as the executive Directors on 1 October 2012, 3 January
2013, 10 January 2013, 10 January 2013 and 21 January 2013
respectively. Besides, Mr. Zhang Zhou, Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman,
Mr. Cheung Hok Fung Alexander resigned as the independent non-
executive Directors on 15 May 2012, 14 June 2012 and 15 June
2012 respectively. Furthermore, Mr. Chiang Chi Kin Stephen, who
was appointed as the independent non-executive Director on
28 November 2012, resigned as the same on 31 December 2013.
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Regarding the appointments of the Directors, Mr. Wang Delin was
appointed as the executive Director and the chief executive officer of
the Company on 18 August 2011. Mr. Ng Kwong Chue Paul was
appointed as the executive Director on 5 September 2013. Ms. Kou
Mei In was appointed as the non-executive Director and the
chairlady of the Company on 5 September 2013. Moreover, Mr. Sze
Lin Tang and Mr. Qiu Xiaohua were appointed as the independent
non-executive Directors on 5 September 2013 and 24 January 2014
respectively. Lastly, as the above mentioned, Mr. Chiang Chi Kin
Stephen was appointed as the independent non-executive Director
on 28 November 2012 but resigned as the same on 31 December
2013.

Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, there are three
independent non-executive Directors. Among the three independent
non-executive Directors, one has appropriate professional
qualification in accounting or related financial management expertise
as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. Under Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules, the Company must appoint independent non-
executive directors representing at least one-third of the board.
During the year under review, the Company did fulfill Rule 3.10(1),
Rule 3.10(2) and Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

Due to the fact that Mr. Cheung Hok Fung Alexander, Ms. Chan
Wah Man Carman and Mr. Zhang Zhou were uncontactable, the
Existing Board was unable to get access to the written confirmations
of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
therefore the Existing Board was unable to comment on the
independence of these independent non-executive Directors.

Delegation of Powers

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to
executive Directors and management of the Company with
department heads responsible for different aspects of the business/
functions, while reserving certain key matters in making strategic
decision for its approval. When the Board delegates aspects of its
management and administration functions to management, it gives
clear directions as to the powers of management, in particular, with
respect to the circumstances where management need to report
back and obtain prior approval from the Board before making
decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the
Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 10 October 2010 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules and paragraph C3 of the CG Code as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to provide the Board with an independent review of
the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal control
and risk management system of the Group, to oversee the audit
process and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned
by the Board. As at 31 December 2011, the Audit Committee
consisted of three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms.
Chan Wah Man Carman (being the chairman of the Audit
Committee and a Hong Kong Certified Public Accountant), Mr.
Cheung Hok Fung Alexander and Mr. Zhang Zhou.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Audit Committee
conducted two meetings. Details of the attendance of the
committee members are as follows:

Name of the Director
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Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman (Chairman) (resigned on 14 June 2012)
MREGZT(ZE)(RZE—ZF A THAET)

Mr. Cheung Hok Fung Alexander (resigned on 15 June 2012)
REBHEAER-Z——FXA+HBEMT

Mr. Zhang Zhou (resigned on 15 May 2012)
RAEERZZE-—_FRHATHBEE)

The existing Audit Committee consists of two independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Sze Lin Tang (being the chairman of
the Audit Committee and a Hong Kong Certified Public Accountant)
and Mr. Qiu Xiaohua.

The existing Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2011.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 10 October 2010
with written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B1 of
the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but without
limitation): (a) making recommendations to the Directors on the
policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policies on such remuneration; (b)
determining the terms of the specific remuneration package of the
Directors and senior management; (c) reviewing and approving
performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Directors from time to time; and (d)
considering and approving the grant of share options to eligible
Participants under the Share Option Scheme. The Remuneration
Committee consisted of five members, of whom three were
independent non-executive Directors, being Mr. Zhang Zhou (as the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Cheung Hok Fung
Alexander and Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman, and two were
executive Directors, being Mr. Zhao Yu and Mr. Zhao Chun Wen.

For the vyear ended 31 December 2011, the Remuneration
Committee conducted four meetings. Details of the attendance of
the committee members are as follows:

Name of the Director
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Mr. Zhang Zhou (Chairman) (resigned on 15 May 2012)
RRAEE(EE) (RZE—ZFRATHBAET)

Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman (resigned on 14 June 2012)
REGZET(R_T——FA+HBEBET)

Mr. Cheung Hok Fung Alexander (resigned on 15 June 2012)
RERLE(RZE——FXA+HAED

Mr. Zhao Yu (Chairman) (resigned on 10 January 2013)
EWFEEE(ERE)(RZE—=F—A+HB&HMT)

Mr. Zhao Chuan Wen (resigned on 21 January 2013)
BEXEE(R-_TE—=ZF—A-+—B&IT)

3/4

4/4

3/4

3/4

4/4
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Remuneration Policy for Directors and Senior
Management

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is determined
on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended and determined
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the corporate
goals and objectives resolved by Directors from time to time.
Directors are entitled to an aggregate annual basic salary. In
addition, each of the executive Directors is also entitled to a
discretionary bonus as determined by the Remuneration Committee
by reference to the performance of the Group.

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme on 10 October
2010. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to reward eligible
Participants who have contributed to the Group and to encourage
Participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company
and its Shares for the benefit of the Company and its Shareholders
as a whole.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 10 October 2010
with written terms of reference as recommended in paragraph A4.5
of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The
primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to formulate the
nomination procedures and standards for candidates for Directors
and senior management, to conduct preliminary review of the
qualifications and other credentials of the candidates for Directors
and senior management and to recommend suitable candidates for
Directors and senior management to the Board. The Nomination
Committee comprised one executive Director, namely Mr. Zhao Yu,
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung
Hok Fung Alexander (being the chairman of the Nomination
Committee), Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman and Mr. Zhang Zhou.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 the Nomination Committee
conducted two meetings. Details of the attendance of the
committee members are as follows:

Name of the Director

EsnR

2011 £ REAXZERERAF
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Mr. Cheung Hok Fung Alexander (Chairman) (resigned on 15 June 2012)

wEBgEE(EE) RS —ZFA+HBET

Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman (resigned on 14 June 2012)
BREGZET(R_T——FXA+HEB&EDT

Mr. Zhang Zhou (resigned on 15 May 2012)
FRAAER_ZE——FRA+HEBEDT

Mr. Zhao Yu (Chairman) (resigned on 10 January 2013)
WFEEE(ER(R_E—=ZF—AT+HEE)

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Financial
Statements

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group’s
financial statements for each financial period to give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash
flows for that period. In preparing the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2011, the Board has selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared
the financial statements on a going concern basis. The Directors are
responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps to
safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud
and other irregularities.
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2/2
1/2

2/2
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Auditor’s Remuneration

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) resigned as auditor of the
Company (the "Auditor”) with effect from 21 March 2012. HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB") has been appointed as the
new Auditor with effect from 3 July 2015 to fill the causal vacancy
left by the resignation of Deloitte. The remuneration in respect of
audit and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2011
provided by the Auditor, HLB, are as follows:

=BT =

EHefIEM A AMIT(EHDERFHLR
NRIZEM B-ZE——F=A_-+—H#&
A BEEMmEKSMERAA(RHED
BEZTARRRIZHAZEN B —
AECAZABRER  WEREEHRHITME
AR - EERHEMEAREEZ
——FF+ A=+ —HULEFEREBEZXERE

FIEZEREzMESWT
Type of Services RMB’000
BR 7% 28 Bl AR® T
Audit services ZH RS 828
Non-audit services (Note) I BOR (M 5E) —
Total BEr 828

Note: The non-audit services was related to interim financial statements review.

NON-COMPLIANCE WITH FINANCIAL REPORTING
PROVISIONS OF THE LISTING RULES

On 21 March 2012, Deloitte resigned as the auditor of the
Company. The Company was in the process of identifying a suitable
replacement to fill the vacancy following the resignation of Deloitte.

On 26 June 2013, HLB was appointed as the auditor of the
Company to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of
Deloitte. However, due to incomplete record, the appointment of
HLB was formally engaged by the Board on 3 July 2015.

Thus, the Company could not timely comply with the financial
reporting provisions under the Listing Rules in announcing and
publishing its annual results and annual reports for the years ended
31 December 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014 and its interim results and
interim reports for the six months ended 30 June 2012, 2013, 2014
and 2015.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control systems. The Existing Board was unable to
comment on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system
for the year ended 31 December 2011 due to the fact that past
Directors were uncontactable and incomplete records of the
Company from the previous Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged in a service contract with an external
service provider, Ms. Ho Wing Yan (“Ms. Ho"), who was appointed
as the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”). Ms. Ho confirmed that she has received 15 hours
professional trainings under the requirement of Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules during the year under review.

On 1 June 2015, Ms. Ho resigned as the Company Secretary and
Ms. Wong Po Ling Pauline was appointed as the Company
Secretary.

INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely
and effective communication with the Shareholders and investors.
The Board also recognises that effective communication with
investors is the key to establish investor confidence and to attract
new investors. Therefore, the Group is committed to maintaining a
high degree of transparency to ensure that the investors and the
Shareholders receive accurate, clear, comprehensive and timely
information of the Group by the publication of annual reports,
interim reports, announcements and circulars. The Company also
publishes all documents on the Company's website at
http://www.cre8ir.com/dagingdairy/. The Board continues to maintain
regular dialogues with institutional investors and analysts to keep
them informed of the Group’s strategy, operations, management and
plans. The Directors and the committee members are available to
answer questions at annual general meetings of the Company.
Separate resolutions would be proposed at general meetings of the
Company on each substantially separate issue.
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Shareholders’ Right

Pursuant to the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of
Association, the Board may whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary
general meetings. Any one or more Members holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Shareholders may put forward their proposals or inquiries to the
Board by sending their written request to the Company’s
correspondence address in Hong Kong.

IR R R

BREARRZEHBERAXANERMAL - &
ESARER BB E N EARREFRETHIX
G EA—UKNERNEZEREAFARN
REBAENARELREZHEBRANDR A
DZ—HER BREREBANARRES
SHAMEBRHEERER  EREZSERS
ARE  NEERBERPEBNEFMEIR:
teZENEBESCE2RMQ)EARE
ToMEZR-_T HRNEEFSRAEMZ
Rg AEZ22BRKALAETUREL XA
MAE MEEERALTREEFSRAARN
REMABEELANMERXEAARAIRE
SKAEHRER -

BRABEEEREXEARNRFEET BB
At BHEPNEESRIEFRAEM -



Bl #F g3t & F4mAmNa

Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

HLB

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
DAQING DAIRY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the financial statements of Daging Dairy
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) set out on pages 53 to 171,
which comprise the company statements of financial position as at
31 December 2011, and the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IFRSs”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to
you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other persons for the
contents of this report. Except for the inability to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence as explained below, we conducted our
audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether
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statements are free from material misstatement.

Because of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion paragraphs, however, we were not able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion.

a)

Authenticity of accounting records and de-
consolidation of all subsidiaries

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
predecessor auditors of the Company (the “Predecessor
Auditors”) identified certain potential irregularities in respect of
certain accounting records and transactions recorded in the
books of the Company’s indirectly wholly-owned subsidiaries
incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC")
namely, Da Qing Dairy Ltd. (KREI @B ER EE AR,
Heilongjiang Chang Qing Dairy Products Co., Ltd. (B8 TIHEE
FLEBRELAF]) and Wuchang Benniu Muye Co., Ltd (&
BHESKREBRETAR) (collectively referred as to the “PRC
Subsidiaries”). The Predecessor Auditors subsequently resigned
on 21 March 2012. As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial
statements, certain new directors were appointed following
the change in controlling shareholder of the Company and it
was announced on 6 November 2013 that a firm of forensic
accounting specialists (the *“Forensic Accountants”)
appointed to investigate these potential irregularities (the
“Forensic Investigation”). Both the Forensic Accountants and
the directors of the Company have been unable to get access
to the books and records of the PRC Subsidiaries. The
directors of the Company have also been unable to locate
complete books and records of the Company and Global Milk
Products Pte. Ltd which is the Company’s directly wholly-
owned subsidiary incorporated in the Republic of Singapore
("Global Milk”). The directors of the Company have further
confirmed to us that the previous management of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) did not response
to their request for any information. Furthermore, the
Company resolved to put Global Milk into winding up in a
shareholder’s meeting held on 3 December 2015.
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Given these circumstances, the directors of the Company have
not consolidated the financial statements of Global Milk and
the PRC Subsidiaries (collectively referred as to the “De-
consolidated Subsidiaries”) and no consolidated financial
statements of the Company were prepared for the year ended
31 December 2011.

The resulting de-consolidation loss of approximately
RMB1,583,093,000 has been recognised in the statements of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and the
resulting movement of approximately RMB55,946,000 has been
recorded in the statutory surplus reserve in the statement of
changes in equity.

The directors of the Company have determined to exclude the
De-consolidated Subsidiaries in presenting the financial
position, results of operations and cash flows and did not
prepare consolidated financial statements for the Group under
the above mentioned circumstances. The exclusion of the
financial position, results and cash flows of the De-
consolidated Subsidiaries and no consolidated financial
statements have been prepared for the Group is a departure
from the requirements of IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial
Statements”.

Due to the lack of complete books and records of the De-
consolidated Subsidiaries, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence and explanation to assess
the accounting treatment and the loss on de-consolidation of
the De-consolidated Subsidiaries and the resulting movement
recorded in the statutory surplus reserve. We are also unable
to ascertain the impact of the potential irregularities with
respect to the accounting records and transactions of the
Group, if any, and the de-consolidation of the De-consolidated
Subsidiaries on the financial statements. Any adjustment that
would be required may have a consequential significant effect
on the net liabilities of the Company as at 31 December 2011
and the loss attributable to equity holders of the Company for
the year then ended.
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Incomplete books and records

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements of the
Company, the directors of the Company are unable to locate
the books and records of the Company and were unable to
unreservedly confirm its financial position, results of operations
and cash flow. We were therefore unable to carry out
satisfactory audit procedures to obtain reasonable assurance
regarding the completeness, accuracy, existence, valuation,
ownership, classification and disclosures of the transactions
undertaken by the Company. Accordingly, we were unable to
ascertain whether the financial statements of the Company has
been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

Non-compliance with IFRSs and omission of
disclosures

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, as the
Company’s financial statements have been prepared by the
directors of the Company based on incomplete books and
records and the board of directors of the Company believes it
is almost impossible and not practicable to ascertain the
correct amounts and balances in the financial statements.
Consequently, the directors of the Company were unable to
represent that the financial statements comply with IFRSs, or
that the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited have been
complied with. Given these circumstances, which are more fully
described in note 2.1, there were no practicable audit
procedures that we could perform to quantify the extent of
adjustments that might be necessary in respect of the
Company’s financial statements.
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d)

Bank balances and cash

As disclosed in note 32 of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 which were
authorized to issue on 16 March 2011 (the “2010 Financial
Statements”), a bank balances and cash amounted to
approximately RMB11,523,000 was recorded on the statement
of financial position of the Company at 31 December 2010. As
further disclosed in note 2.1 and 21 to the financial
statements, except for bank balances of approximately
RMB3,000, the directors of the Company and the Forensic
Accountants were unable to locate relevant books and records
of bank accounts and whereabouts of these bank balances and
cash up to the date of approval of the financial statements.
Given these circumstances, the directors of the Company have
recognised a loss of approximately RMB11,520,000 in respect
of these bank balances as other suspense account in the
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
Due to lack of complete books and records of the Company,
we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence as to whether the bank balances and cash and the
resulting loss recognised as other suspense account were
properly recorded and accounted for and in compliance with
the requirements of applicable IFRSs. There were no alternative
audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy ourselves as
to whether the bank balances and cash and the resulting loss
recognised as other suspense account were free from material
misstatement. Any adjustments that would be required may
have a consequential significant effect on the Company’s net
liabilities at 31 December 2011 and consequently net loss and
cash flows of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2011, and the related disclosures thereof in the financial
statements.

d)
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f)
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Amount due to a subsidiary

As disclosed in note 32 of the 2010 Financial Statements and
as disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements, the
Company recorded an amount due to a subsidiary of
approximately RMB810,000. As further disclosed in note 2.1 to
the financial statements, the directors of the Company have
been unable to locate complete books and records of the
Company and Global Milk and have been unable to get access
to the books and records of the PRC Subsidiaries. Due to the
lack of complete books and records of the Company, Global
Milk and the PRC Subsidiaries, we have not been able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to determine
whether the amount due to a subsidiary was properly recorded
and accounted for and in compliance with the requirements of
applicable IFRSs. There were no alternative audit procedures
that we could perform to satisfy ourselves as to whether the
amount due to a subsidiary were free from material
misstatements. Any adjustment that would be required may
have a consequential significant effect on the net liabilities of
the Company as at 31 December 2011 and loss attributable to
the equity holders of the Company for the year then end.

Trade and other payables

As disclosed in note 32 of the 2010 Financial Statements and
included in the trade and other payables in the statement of
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2011
were other payables of approximately RMB3,587,000. As
further disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate
complete books and records of the Company. Due to the lack
of complete books and records of the Company, we have not
been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence as to
whether these other payables were properly recorded and
accounted for and in compliance with the requirements of
applicable IFRSs. There were no alternative audit procedures
that we could perform to satisfy ourselves as to whether these
trade and other payables were free from material
misstatements. Any adjustments that would be required may
have a consequential significant effect on the balances of the
Company's trade and other payables, the Company’s net
liabilities as at 31 December 2011 and consequently net loss
and cash flows of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2011, and the related disclosures thereof in the
financial statements.
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g)

Impairment loss recognised in respect of the trade
and other receivables

Included in the administrative expenses in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2011 of
approximately RMB787,000 was the impairment loss recognised
in respect of trade and other receivables of the Company. As
disclosed in note 32 of the 2010 Financial Statements, trade
and other receivables amounted to approximately RMB787,000
were recorded on the statement of financial position of the
Company at 31 December 2010. As further disclosed in note
2.1 to the financial statements, the directors of the Company
have been unable to locate complete books and records of the
Company. Given these circumstances, the directors of the
Company have recognised an impairment loss in respect of
these trade and other receivables for the year ended 31
December 2011. Due to lack of complete books and records of
the Company, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence as to whether the trade and other
receivables and the impairment loss receognised in respect of
the trade and other receivables were properly recorded and
accounted for and in compliance with the requirements of
applicable IFRSs including International Accounting Standard
(“IAS") 39: “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”. There were no alternative audit procedures
that we could perform to satisfy ourselves as to whether the
trade and other receivables and the impairment loss
receognised in respect of the trade and other receivables were
free from material misstatement. Any adjustments that would
be required may have a consequential significant effect on the
Company’s net liabilities at 31 December 2011 and
consequently net loss and cash flows of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2011, and the related disclosures
thereof in the financial statements.
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Contingent liabilities and commitments

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, due to the
lack of complete books and records of the Company and the
De-consolidated Subsidiaries, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence and explanations as to
whether the contingent liabilities and commitments committed
by the Company were properly recorded and accounted for
and in compliance with the requirements of applicable IFRSs
including IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets” and IAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement”. There were no alternative
audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy ourselves as
to whether the contingent liabilities and commitments were
free from material misstatements. Any adjustment that would
be required may have a consequential significant effect on the
net liabilities of the Company as at 31 December 2011 and the
loss attributable to the equity holders for the year then ended
and the related disclosures thereof in the financial statements.

Share-based payments

As disclosed in notes 2.1 and 25 to the financial statements,
due to lack of complete books and records of the Company,
we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence as to whether the share-based payments expenses of
approximately RMB10,769,000 and the movements and the
balances of share option reserve were properly recorded and
accounted for and in compliance with applicable [IFRSs
including IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”. There were no
alternative audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy
ourselves as to whether the share-based payment expenses
and the balances of share option reserve were free from
material misstatements. Any adjustment that would be
required may have a consequential significant effect on the
balance of the share option reserve, the Company's net
liabilities as at 31 December 2011 and consequently net loss
and cash flow of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2011, and the related disclosures thereof in the
financial statements.

h)

HAREERAE

NS IR M S 2P R - R R
Z BRANMBUBHZAEARKERQT
ZEBRMERLEE  EERENER
REBERIEBLERE NUEBEE &
RAZHAREBBERAERETEEZRT
BRARLSAERERMBEREE
Al 2 35 7€ (B 1R BIBR & 5t 2 Rl 55 37 5% 5
B HAABRIARBEERERES
HRFEIVFEHBTE : ERBRFE) -
BEEEAETEMBEREFUASES
EMHARABBR AR FHEERER
Rt - B EFARITZ2ERERE
FAEBESEMNXRBERAELE
BEAKRERR - AAE - BERFAR
—E-—F+A=+—RZzABFE
RBEZBLEFEZEGSRHEARIIG
BiE - UARMBHRRZEBAREEHR
ARXIERRETLE -

U % E %A

AN EA S TR R M 2.1 R 25FTH BE 0
Rtz BARZTEERM&GC
EEREDNBRECEEEZERE - N
ETUBROAERNSIAIHNARE
10,769,0007T K B8 i% 9 (7 1~ B )\ 45
HRERECEALHEIARERFEEA
B PR B 75 3R 5 2 Rl 2 4R E (B 3R B BR B
IR EERFE 258 AR D AEE AR -
MEZENRTCBERERERAE
EEEMNARMDAERNRAZRE
RiEFEHEEH T EERKREER - 10
EAE BREGREBSEHS - B3R
—E——F+-A=t+—-HZzABE%EE
¥ BERAREBE-_ZE——E+-A=+
—AIEFEzBRFERESRE - U
Nk 2 HE R R A R Al ge X E
BABEZE -



j)

k)

Events after the reporting period

Due to lack of complete books and records of the Company,
we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence as to whether the events after the reporting period
were properly recorded and accounted for and in compliance
with the requirements of applicable IFRSs including IAS 10
“Events after the Reporting Period”. There were no practical
alternative procedures that we could perform over the
significant transactions which occurred during the period from
1 January 2012 to the date of this auditors’ report. Any
adjustment that would be required may have a consequential
significant effect on the Company’s net liabilities as at 31
December 2011 and consequently net loss and cash flows of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2011, and the
related disclosures thereof in the financial statements.

Related party transactions

Due to lack of complete books and records of the Company,
we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence as to whether the related party transactions
disclosures were properly recorded and accounted for and in
compliance with the requirements of applicable IFRSs including
IAS 24 "Related Party Disclosures”. There were no practical
alternative procedures that we could perform over the related
party transactions which occurred during the year ended 31
December 2011. Any adjustments that would be required may
have a consequential significant effect on the Company’s net
liabilities as at 31 December 2011 and consequently net loss
and cash flows of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2011, and the related disclosures thereof in the
financial statements.
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Opening balances and the comparative information

Due to lack of complete books and records of the Company,
we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence as to whether the opening balances as at 1 January
2011 and the comparative figures for the year ended 31
December 2010 were properly recorded and accounted for and
in compliance with the requirements of applicable IFRSs
including IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”. There
were no alternative audit procedures that we could perform to
satisfy ourselves as to whether the opening balances and the
comparative figures were free from material misstatement. Any
adjustments that would be required may have a consequential
significant effect on the Group and the Company’s assets and
liabilities as at 31 December 2010 and 2011 and its results for
the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2011, and the
presentation and disclosure thereof in the financial
statements.

Going concern basis of accounting

As explained in note 2.1 to the financial statements, in making
their assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, the directors of the Company have considered
(i) the Company incurred a loss attributable to the owners of
the Company of approximately RMB1,606,997,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2011 and as of that date, the Company’s
total liabilities exceeded its total assets by approximately
RMB5,222,000; (i) following de-consolidation of the De-
consolidated Subsidiaries, the Company become an investment
holding company without conducting other business; (iii) the
Company has been placed in the second delisting stage as of
the date of approval of the financial statements; and (iv) as
disclosed in note 2.1, the directors are unable to represent
that all present and contingent liabilities of the Company have
been completely identified. Given these circumstances, which
are more fully described in note 2.1, there were no practicable
audit procedures that we could perform to form an opinion on
whether management has considered all relevant events and
conditions when making assessment on the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern.
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Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion paragraphs, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the financial
statements as to whether they give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company as at 31 December 2011, and of the
Company’s loss and cash flow for the year then ended in
accordance with IFRSs and as to whether the financial statements
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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REPORT ON MATTERS UNDER SECTION 80(1) OF
SCHEDULE 11 TO THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE WITH REFERENCE TO SECTIONS
141(4) AND 141(6) OF THE PREDECESSOR HONG
KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.32)

In respect alone of the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the items stated under basis for disclaimer of
opinion for the year ended 31 December 2011,

o we have not obtained all the information and explanations that
we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit; and

o we were unable to determine whether proper books of account
had been kept for the year ended 31 December 2011.

Other Matters

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2010 were audited by previous auditors who
expressed an unqualified of opinion on those statements on 16
March 2011.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yu Chi Fat

Practising Certificate Number: P0O5467

Hong Kong, 21 January 2016
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Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

De-consolidation of De-consolidated
Subsidiaries

Other gains and losses

Selling and distribution expenses

Administration expenses

Finance costs

Other suspense account

(Loss)/profit before taxation
Income tax expenses

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Total comprehensive (loss)/income

for the year

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable

to owners of the Company

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year attributable to owners

of the Company

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY

Basic and diluted

W =
5 & AR

E7

2011 3§

For the year ended 31 December 2011 & £ = F

Notes

Bt 5

BUH&Z & ARNE QA

BUB%R &

AR 5(a)

H W 23 K &5 18 7

TR X
MBEM

E & RERIA 11

BRI (B E) R 9

FIT 15 5 B X

FRER)HEF

FRE2EER)

Uy %5 48 2R

RRRERAES

FR(ER) T

EABREBANEA

FrR2EER)

Uy 25 48 2R

RRAERAEESR

(B1])BR

14

2010
—T-FF
RMB'000
ARBTT

921,886
(443,655)

478,231

(968)
(44,276)
(51,717)
(14,672)

366,598
(106,010)
260,588

260,588

260,588

260,588

RMBA K #
0.3337TC
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 B2 =F ——F+ A=+ —HIFFE

2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
Notes RMB’000 RMB"000
B 5 AR T T ARET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Mk BEREE 15 — 526,894
Prepaid lease payments AT E XK 16 — 38,451
Intangible assets mWEE 17 — 11,535
Deferred tax assets EEFHIBEEE 18 — 3,441
— 580,321
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 19 — 20,219
Trade and other receivables ERESEREREEAM
JE W 5k 18 20 — 15,711
Prepaid lease payments AT &5 16 — 847
Bank balances and cash RITEHRRIRS 21 3 1,265,224
3 1,302,001
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables ERE SRR R EAM
JFE T 3018 22 5,225 111,488
Income tax liabilities FrisfiamsE — 56,868
5,225 168,356
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE(EE) EEFHE (5,222) 1,133,645
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBAR (5.222) 1,713,966




2011 58 KEIFERERLH

For the year ended 31 December 2011 B2 = FE——F+=H=+—HI FF

2011 2010
= —E-TF
Notes RMB’000 RMB"000
B 5 AR T T ARET T

Capital and reserves EAXR#E
Share capital [N 24 9 9
Reserves ke (5.231) 1,590,997
(5,222) 1,591,006

Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIEEE 18 — 22,960
Borrowings & 3 23 — 100,000
— 122,960
(5,222) 1,713,966

The financial statements on pages 53 to 171 were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 21 January 2016
and are signed on its behalf by:

FES3ENAZHBHRRRIN_F—F—H
“t-BEREFSHERKETE X HMA

TEERREE:

Kou Mei In Ng Kwong Chue Paul
Director Director
EE EF
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 B ZE2=F——F+=-H=+—HIFFE
Retained
Other Share  Statutory earnings/
Share paid-in Share option surplus  (accumulated
capital capital premium reserve reserve losses) Total
HEH BRE AERH RERA/
N BA  ROEE 1] wE  (REER) @it
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE AR%TR ARETR AR%TR ARTn AR%Tn AR¥TxR
(see note a (see note b
below) below)
(RTX (RTX
B ska) B 5b)
At 1 January 2010 R=ZZ-FT4—-f—H — 114,868 — — 25,672 161,932 302,472
Issue of shares to Mr. Zhao ML EBTRG
(see note(a) below) (RT3 M &) — (114,868 125,000 = = = 10,132
Issue of shares to the Investors mMEEE(EER
(as defined in (note 24(d)) B 5 24(d)) B 17X 13
(see note 24(d) and note 24(f)) (R & 24(d) &
i 724(f)) = = 127,780 = = = 127,780
Capitalisation issue BRCES
(as defined) in note 24(g)) (F & RH#24(g) 7 = @) - - - -
Issue of new shares upon the listing of RARA R £ B
the Company's shares BIIH KA 2 = 943,829 = = — 943,831
Transaction costs attributable to issue HRODBIEERSHA
of new shares = = (53,797) = = = (53,797)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRNE2EKELSE = = = = = 260,588 260,588
Transfer B = = = = 30,274 (30,274) =
At 31 December 2010 and R=F-ZF+-A=1+-H
1 January 2011 k=F——%—-A—H 9 — 1,142,805 — 55,946 392,246 1,591,006
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the ~ BEEFRNZHERAE
year - - — - —  (1,606997)  (1,606,997)
Recognition of shares-based payments AR 17 B E B A 3R = = = 10,769 = = 10,769
Release upon de-consolidation RECEER A AR B AR
of De-consolidated Subsidiaries BUERAAERR#ER = = — — (55,946) 55,946 -
At 31 December 2011 R=-B--%+=-A=+-H 9 — 1,142,805 10,769 = (1,158,805) (5,222)
Notes: B 2
a. Other paid-in capital a. Hin R &R
As at 1 January 2010, the amount of RMB114,868,000 represented the non- R-ZZT—ZTF—HF—H AHARKK¥114,868,000
refundable partial payment of subscription money received from #= (Mr. Zhao ZHREERANAEBFRE(HEEDR-R
Yu, “Mr. Zhao"”) in December 2009 in respect of a share subscription TNFT—AZTRHIAZCHRORERE  RN=
agreement entered into between the Company and Mr. Zhao dated 20 TENF+T_AMESERBMH RIS R
November 2009. Together with an additional money of RMB10,132,000 settled BR - BRAR-Z—ZTF_ALEBEITEBEBAR
in February 2010, an aggregate of 63,171 ordinary shares of HK$0.00001 each #10,132,000C * R=E—ZTF - AWHEARA A
in the Company were issued to Mr. Zhao on 4 February 2010. 63,1718 Fi%0.00001B T2 LB EEITT
WA o
b. Statutory surplus reserve b. ETE RS

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for enterprises in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), the Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
maintain a statutory surplus reserve fund which is non-distributable. The
appropriations to such reserve are made out of net profit after taxation of the
statutory financial statements of the relevant PRC subsidiaries. The statutory
surplus reserve fund can be used to make up prior year losses, if any, and can
be applied in conversion into capital by means of capitalisation issue.

BAEEARAMBE(HE])®ENBEBEERRE
BRAE  ARATEMBRARAAFETAD KA
EERBFEBES  ZERENERDIRETE
HEMBARDEE M B RERORBRMA - JEE
AHFHEESTRARBEHBEFEBR(WE)
WAIAEREEITHO T ABIRBER -



Operating activities
(Loss) profit before taxation
Adjustments for:

Finance costs

Interest income

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Release of prepaid lease payments

Amortisation of intangible assets

Losses on disposals of property, plant and
equipment

Exchange gain on subscription money received

loans from investors
Impairment for trade receivables
De-consolidation of De-consolidated
subsidiaries
Share-based payments

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

Decrease in inventories

Decrease in trade and other receivables

Increase in trade and other payables

Net cash outflow from de-consolidation of
de-consolidated subsidiaries

Cash (used in) generated from operations
Income tax paid
Interest paid

Net cash (used in) generated from operating

activities

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Interest received

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Net cash used in investing activities
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2010
—E-ZF

RMB’000

ARETT

366,598

14,672
(971)

26,338

1,104

1,520

590

(256)

409,595
4,230

8,494

46,098

468,417
(86,212)
(11,845)

370,360

(11,138)
971

467

(9,700)
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 # £ — = F+—H

Financing activities

Issue of new shares upon the listing of the
Company’s shares

Bank borrowings raised

Amount advanced from a related party

Loans from the investors

Repayments of bank borrowings

Repayments of loans from the investors

Amount repaid to a related party

Cash paid to Mr Zhao

Transaction costs attributable to issue of
new shares

Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
the year

Effect of exchange rate for converting the bank 33 LASNEE 358 2 R 1745

balances and cash held in foreign currencies
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Daging Dairy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 15 October
20009.

The address of the registered office of the Company is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the
Company is Room 2512, 25/F, Cosco Tower, 183 Queen’s
Road Central, Hong Kong.

The financial statements of the Company are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB").

The Company acts as an investment holding company.

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 28 October 2010 (the “Listing”).
Trading in the shares of the Company has been suspended
since 22 March 2012.

The financial statements as at and for the year ended 31
December 2011 comprise the Company.
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As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 29 March
2012, during the audit process in respect of the financial year
ended 31 December 2011, irregularities were identified by
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the predecessor auditors of the
Company (the “Predecessor Auditors”) that (i) certain milk
procurement transactions brought to the attention of
management and acknowledged by them to be fraudulent; (ii)
unexplained differences between sales receipt notes sighted
during the Predecessor Auditors’ works in February 2012 and
documents purporting to be the same sales receipt notes
returned to the Company in March 2012 ostensibly following a
Tax Bureau investigation; (iii) the explanation provided by
management-The Tax Bureau investigation-for removing
accounting records which were then not available to the
Predecessor Auditors continuously during the audit; (iv) the
validity and commercial substance of acquisitions of milk
stations, farm houses and Holstein cattle; and (v) difficulties
the Predecessor Auditors encountered during their visits to the
local branch of one of the banks of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) (collectively referred as to the
“Potential Irregularities”). The Predecessor Auditors tendered its
resignation as auditors of the Company with effect from 21
March 2012 and the Company applied for suspension of
trading in the shares on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 22 March 2012.

It was further disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 29 March 2012 that an independent review committee
comprised of the independent non-executive directors at that
material time and other qualified independent individuals has
been established to conduct a review on the Potential
Irregularities raised by the Predecessor Auditors.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 18 May
2012 and 20 June 2012, during May and June 2012, those
independent non-executive directors at that material time
forming the independent review committee tendered their
resignation as the independent non-executive directors of the
Company.
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As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 9
January 2013, on 2 January 2013, it was discovered that the
heating pipes of the offices of a subsidiary, Da Qing Dairy Ltd.
(REARMAEMREMEARF) ("Da Qing Dairy”), located in
Daging City, Heilongjiang Province of the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC"), were cracked as result of severe coldness in the
northern area of the PRC and pipeline aging. Due to cracking
of the heating pipes, the first and the second floors of the
offices had been soaked, and extensive damages were caused
to the office facilities, computers and documents in the office
of finance, logistics, administration and engineering
departments of the Group (collectively referred to as the
“Incident”).

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 18 April
2013, on 8 February 2013, Mr. Zhao, then controlling
shareholder of the Company at that material time, entered into
a sale and purchase agreement pursuant to which Mr. Zhao
agreed to sell and Radiant State Limited (the “New Controlling
Shareholder”) agreed to purchase the sale shares, representing
52.16% of the entire share capital of the Company at a
consideration of HK$52,704,000 in cash, representing HK$0.1
per sale share (collectively referred to as the “Purchase”).

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 5 July
2013, the New Controlling Shareholders received valid
acceptances in respect of a total 83,153,622 shares in the
Company under the unconditional mandatory cash offer (the
“Share Acceptance”), representing 8.23% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company. Following completion of the
Purchase and the Share Acceptance, the New Controlling
Shareholder held 60.39% equity interest in the Company.

As disclosed in the Company announcement dated 5
September 2013, Mr. Ng Kwong Chue Paul was appointed as
executive director of the Company, Ms. Kou Mei In was
appointed as non-executive director of the Company and Mr.
Sze Lin Tang was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company (the “New Management”).
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As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 6
November 2013, the Company engaged RSM Corporate
Advisory (Hong Kong) Limited (formerly known as “RSM
Nelson Wheeler Corporate Advisory Limited”) (the “Forensic
Accountants”) to carry out forensic investigation in respect of
the Potential Irregularities (the “Forensic Investigation”). It was
further disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 29
January 2014, 4 April 2014, 13 June 2014, 5 September 2014,
28 November 2014 and 30 April 2015 that (1) the Forensic
Accountants were yet to commence their field work as the
Company and the Forensic Accountants have encountered
difficulties in procuring relevant parties including the previous
management of the Group to cooperate in the field work of
the Forensic Investigation; (2) two PRC law firms were
engaged with the objectives to (i) effect the change of legal
representatives and board of directors of Da Qing Dairy,
Heilongjiang Chang Qing Dairy Products Co., Ltd. (28I EE
ILEEREMTAF) (“Chang Qing Dairy”) and Wuchang
Benniu Muye Co., Ltd (A EHE4 KR EBGR ET A A]) (“Benniu
Muye”) (collectively referred as to the “PRC Subsidiaries”)
through legal means; and (ii) obtain information requested by
the Forensic Accountants; and (3) the contemplate change of
respective legal representatives of the PRC Subsidiaries could
not be effected and due to insufficient financial resources of
the Company, the Forensic Investigation has been temporarily
halted.

In addition, the New Controlling Shareholder appointed two
individuals into the board of directors of its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Global Milk Products Pte. Ltd, which is incorporated
in the Republic of Singapore (“Global Milk”). However, the
directors of the Company could not locate complete books and
records of the Company and Global Milk and the previous
managements of the Company and Global Milk have
continued ignoring the request for any information.
Subsequently in the shareholders meeting of Global Milk held
on 3 December 2015, the Company resolved to put Global
Milk into winding up, subject to further advice from legal
advisers.
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Given the circumstances that the directors of the Company
have not been able to locate complete books and records of
the Company and Global Milk and get access to the books
and records of the PRC Subsidiaries and in the absence of the
Group’s previous management to explain and validate the true
state of the affairs of the Company at 31 December 2011, it
would be extremely difficult and time consuming to ascertain
the true and correct financial position and profit or loss of 31
December 2011 for the Group or to obtain sufficient
documentary information to satisfy themselves regarding the
treatment of the transactions during the year and various
balances of the Company, Global Milk and the PRC
Subsidiaries as at 31 December 2011. In the Company’s board
of directors (the “Board”)’ opinion, any reconstruction of the
correct accounting records would also be almost impossible as
it will be necessary to verify the information with external and
independent sources and such sources may not be available or
may be unreliable due to their connections with the Group’s
previous management or those responsible for the financial
information which the Predecessor Auditors identified the
Potential Irregularities within and outside of the Group.
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As of the date of the financial statements of the Company,
the directors of the Company have used its best effort, to the
extent commercially practicable, to reconstruct the accounting
records of the Company, Global Milk and the PRC Subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 December 2011, applying the best
estimates and judgement based on the information of the
Group that are available to the directors of the Company.
However, given substantial portion of the books and records
could not be located or accessed and the previous
management of the Group did not response to the New
Management's request, the Board believes that as at the date
of approval of the financial statements, it is impossible and
impractical to ascertain the transactions and balances of the
Company, Global Milk and the PRC Subsidiaries for inclusion in
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2011. Also, due to substantial portion of the
books and records of the Group could not either be located or
accessed, the Board believes that it is almost impossible, and
not practical, to verify the financial information as reported in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
previous years. Accordingly, the comparative financial
information disclosed in the financial statements only
represents such information as reported in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2010 (the “2010 Financial Statements”) and
therefore may not be comparable with the figures for the
current year.

Given these circumstances, the Board has not consolidated the
financial statements of Global Milk and the PRC Subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “De-consolidated Subsidiaries”)
and no consolidated financial statements of the Company were
prepared for the year ended 31 December 2011. As such, the
results, assets and liabilities of the De-consolidated Subsidiaries
have not been included into the financial statements of the
Company since 1 January 2011. The resulting loss on de-
consolidation of approximately RMB1,583,093,000, which is
determined based on the net asset value of the De-
consolidated Subsidiaries as at 1 January 2011, has been
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income during the year ended 31 December
2011 and the resulting movement of approximately
RMB55,946,000 has been recorded in the statutory surplus
reserve in the statement of changes in equity for the year
ended 31 December 2011. Details of the De-consolidated
subsidiaries were set out in note 5 to the financial
statements.
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In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the financial
statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011
prepared on the aforementioned basis is the most appropriate
way of presenting the results and state of affairs of the
Company and the Group as the directors of the Company
were unable to obtain sufficient documentary information to
satisfy themselves regarding the transactions and balances
related to the De-consolidated Subsidiaries. However, the de-
consolidation of the De-consolidated Subsidiaries is not in
compliance with the requirements of International Financial
Reporting Standard (“IFRS”) 10 “Consolidated Financial
Statements”. Given the abovementioned circumstances, the
directors of the Company are unable to ascertain the impact
of the Potential Irregularities with respect to the accounting
records and transactions of the De-consolidated Subsidiaries, if
any, and the de-consolidation of the De-consolidated
Subsidiaries on the financial statements.

Due to limited books of accounts and records available to the
directors of the Company, the following disclosures have not
been made in the financial statements:

—  Details of the credit policy and aging of debtors and
creditors as required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”);

—  Details of contingent liabilities and commitments as
required by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
|FRSs;

—  Details of allowance account for credit losses, financial
risk management and fair value disclosure as required by
IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments — Disclosures”; and

—  Entity-wide disclosures as required by IFRS 8, “Operating
Segments”.
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Any adjustments arising from the matters described above
would have a consequential significant effect on the net loss
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2011 and
net liabilities of the Company as at 31 December 2011.

Due to the limited financial information available and the
previous management of the Group did not response to the
New Management's request, the directors of the Company
were unable to obtain sufficient documentary information to
satisfy themselves regarding the genuineness and
completeness of books and records and the treatment of
various balances as included in the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2011 and have formed the opinion
as follows:

As the financial statements have been prepared based on the
lack of books and records available to the Company, the
directors of the Company are unable to represent that all
transactions entered into by the Company for the year ended
31 December 2011 have been properly reflected in the
financial statements. In this connection, the directors of the
Company are also unable to represent as to the completeness,
existence and accuracy of identification and the disclosures of
revenue and segment information in note 6, de-consolidation
of De-consolidated Subsidiaries in note 5, other gains and
losses in note 7, finance costs in note 8, (loss)/profit before
taxation in note 9, directors’ and employees’ emoluments in
note 10, income tax expenses in note 12, dividends in note
13, (loss)/earnings per share in note 14, property, plant and
equipment in note 15, prepaid lease prepayments in note 16,
intangible assets in note 17, deferred tax assets/(liabilities) in
note 18, inventories in note 19, trade and other receivables in
note 20, bank balances and cash in note 21, trade and other
payables in note 22, borrowings in note 23, share-based
payments in note 25, non-cash transactions in note 26,
retirement benefit plans in note 27, related party transactions
in note 28, commitments in note 29 and contingent liabilities
in note 30.
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As per assessment by the Board, based on the investigations
carried out by the Forensic Accountants and the information
available at this stage, all identified, required adjustments have
been put through in the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2011. Since the investigations may be on-
going, any further adjustments and disclosures, if required,
would be made in the financial statements of the Company as
and when the outcome of the above uncertainties is known
and the consequential adjustments and disclosures are
identified, and would have a consequential effect on the net
loss of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2011
and the net liabilities of the Company as at 31 December
2011.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Company
incurred loss of approximately RMB1,606,997,000. In addition,
following de-consolidation of the De-consolidated Subsidiaries,
the Company become an investment holding company without
conducting other business. It was further disclosed in the
Company’s announcements dated 19 May 2015 and 23
November 2015 respectively that the Stock Exchange has
placed the Company in the first delisting stage on 14 May
2015 and subsequently placed in the second delisting stage on
19 November 2015 pursuant to Practice Note 17 of the Listing
Rules. The directors of the Company have also been unable to
represent that all present and contingent liabilities of the
Company have been completely identified as abovementioned.
These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant effect on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 23 June
2015, on 4 May 2015, the New Controlling Shareholder
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with Global
Courage Limited (“Global Courage”) pursuant to which the
New Controlling Shareholder agreed to sell and Global
Courage agreed to purchase the sale shares, representing of
approximately 60.39% of the entire share capital of the
Company at a consideration of approximately HK$61,019,000,
representing HK$0.1 per sale share.
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Given the circumstance that there exists potential new
shareholder to invest in the Company, the directors of the
Company have adopted the going concern basis in the
preparation of the financial statements.

Should the Company be unable to achieve a successful
restructuring and to continue to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to the financial
statements to adjust the value of the Company’s assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise. The effect of these adjustments has not
been reflected in the financial statements.

APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

The Company has adopted the following new and revised
IFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements:

IFRS 1 Amendment Amendment to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards
— Limited Exemption from Comparative IFRS
7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters

IAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

IAS 32 Amendment Amendment to IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation — Classification of Rights Issues

IFRIC 14 Amendments to IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a
Amendments Minimum Funding Requirement
IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity

Instruments
Amendments to a number of IFRSs issued in May
2010

Improvements to
IFRSs 2010

2.1

2.2
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of
IAS 24 (Revised), and amendment to IFRS 3, IAS 1 and IAS 27
included in Improvements to IFRSs 2010, the adoption of the
new and revised IFRSs has had no significant financial effect
on these financial statements.

The principal effects of adopting these IFRSs are as follows:

@)

IAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

IAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definitions of
related parties. The new definitions emphasise a
symmetrical view of related party relationships and clarify
the circumstances in which persons and key management
personnel affect related party relationships of an entity.
The revised standard also introduces an exemption from
the general related party disclosure requirements for
transactions with a government and entities that are
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by
the same government as the reporting entity. The
accounting policy for related parties has been revised to
reflect the changes in the definitions of related parties
under the revised standard. The adoption of the revised
standard did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Company. Details of the
related party transactions, including the related
comparative information, are included in note 28 to the
financial statements.
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Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)

Improvements to IFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010 sets out
amendments to a number of IFRSs. There are separate
transitional provisions for each standard. While the
adoption of some of the amendments results in changes
in accounting policies, none of these amendments has
had a significant financial impact on the financial
position or performance of the Company. Details of the
key amendments most applicable to the Company are as
follows:

o IFRS 3 Business Combinations: The amendment
clarifies that the amendments to IFRS 7, IAS 32
and IAS 39 that eliminate the exemption for
contingent consideration do not apply to
contingent consideration that arose from business
combinations whose acquisition dates precede the
application of IFRS 3 (as revised in 2008).

In addition, the amendment limits the scope of
measurement choices for non-controlling interests.
Only the components of non-controlling interests
that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets in the event of liquidation are
measured at either fair value or at the present
ownership instruments’ proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by another
IFRS.

The amendment also added explicit guidance to
clarify the accounting treatment for non-replaced
and voluntarily replaced share-based payment
awards.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

®)

Improvements to IFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010 sets out
amendments to a number of IFRSs. There are separate
transitional provisions for each standard. While the
adoption of some of the amendments results in changes
in accounting policies, none of these amendments has
had a significant financial impact on the financial
position or performance of the Company. Details of the
key amendments most applicable to the Company are as
follows: (Continued)

o IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: The
amendment clarifies that an analysis of each
component of other comprehensive income can be
presented either in the statement of changes in
equity or in the notes to the financial statements.
The Company elects to present the analysis of each
component of other comprehensive income in the
statement of changes in equity.

o IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements: The amendment clarifies that the
consequential amendments from IAS 27 (as revised
in 2008) made to IAS 21, IAS 28 and IAS 31 shall
be applied prospectively for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009 or earlier.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

Early adoption of new/revised IFRSs

During the year, the Company has early adopted the following

new/revised IFRSs where early adoption is permitted:

IFRS 10

IFRS 11

IFRS 12
I[FRS 10, IFRS 11

and IFRS 12
Amendments

IAS 27 (2011)

IAS 28 (2011)

IAS 1
Amendments

Consolidated Financial Statements

Joint Arrangements

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and
IFRS 12 — Transition Guidance

Separate Financial Statements

Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures

Amendments to IAS 1 Preparation of
Financial Statement — Preparation of
Items of Other Comprehensive Income
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Early adoption of new/revised IFRSs (Continued)

IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all
entities including special purpose entities or structured entities.
It includes a new definition of control which is used to
determine which entities are consolidated. The changes
introduced by IFRS 10 require management of the Company to
exercise significant judgment to determine which entities are
controlled, compared with the requirements in IAS 27 and SIC
12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 replaces
the portion of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements that addresses the accounting for consolidated
financial statements. It also addressed the issues raised in SIC
12. Based on the preliminary analyses performed, IFRS 10 is
not expected to have any impact on the currently held
investments of the Company.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Early adoption of new/revised IFRSs (Continued)

IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements

IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. It describes
the accounting for joint arrangements with joint control. It
addresses only two forms of joint arrangements, i.e., joint
operations and joint ventures, and removes the option to
account for joint ventures using proportionate consolidation.
The classification of joint arrangements under IFRS 11 depends
on the parties’ rights and obligations arising from the
arrangements. A joint operation is a joint arrangement
whereby the joint operators have rights to the assets and
obligations for the liabilities of the arrangement and is
accounted for on a line-by-line basis to the extent of the joint
operators’ rights and obligations in the joint operation. A joint
venture is a joint arrangement whereby the joint venturers
have rights to the net assets of the arrangement and is
required to be accounted for using the equity method in
accordance with IAS 28 (2011).

The application of IFRS 11 had no impact on the Company’s
results of operations or financial position.

IFRS 12: Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

IFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries,
joint arrangements, associates and structured entities previously
included in [AS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements, IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and IAS 28
Investments in Associates. It also introduces a number of new
disclosure requirements for these entities.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Early adoption of new/revised IFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12: Transition
Guidance

In June 2012, the International Accounting Standards Board
(the “IASB") issued amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS
12 which clarify the transition guidance in IFRS 10 and provide
further relief from full retrospective application of these
standards, limiting the requirement to provide adjusted
comparative information to only the preceding comparative
period. The amendments clarify that retrospective adjustments
are only required if the consolidation conclusion as to which
entities are controlled by the Company is different between
IFRS 10 and IAS 27 or SIC-12 at the beginning of the annual
period in which IFRS 10 is applied for the first time.
Furthermore, for disclosures related to unconsolidated
structured entities, the amendments will remove the
requirement to present comparative information for periods
before IFRS 12 is first applied.

IAS 27 (2011) and IAS 28 (2011)

IAS 27 (2011) was issued following the issuance of IFRS 10.
The revised IAS 27 only deals with the accounting for
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures in the separate
financial statements of the parent company. The adoption of
IAS 27 (2011) does not have any impact on the Company’s
financial statements as it already complies with the
requirements of the standard.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Early adoption of new/revised IFRSs (Continued)

IAS 27 (2011) and IAS 28 (2011) (Continued)

IAS 28 (2011) stipulates that the equity method shall be
applied to both joint ventures and associates. Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the
Company’s share of net assets of the investee. The
consolidated statement of comprehensive income includes the
Company'’s share of the post-acquisition profit or loss and the
Company’s share of movements in other comprehensive
income of the investee.

Amendments to IAS 1: Presentation of Financial
Statement — Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income

The IAS 1 Amendments change the grouping of items
presented in other comprehensive income. Items that could be
reclassified (or recycled) to profit or loss at a future point in
time (for example, net gain on hedge of a net investment,
exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, net
movement on cash flow hedges and net loss or gain on
available-for-sale financial assets) would be presented
separately from items which will never be reclassified (for
example, actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans
and revaluation of land and buildings). The amendments will
affect presentation only and have no impact on the financial
position or performance.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs

The Company has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements:

IFRS 1 Amendments

IFRS 1 Amendments

IFRS 7 Amendments

IFRS 7 Amendments

IFRS 9 (2014)

Amendments to IFRS
10 and IAS 28
(2011)

Amendments to IFRS
"

IFRS 13
IFRS 14
IFRS 15
IFRS 16

IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and
IAS 27 (Revised)
Amendments

Amendments to IFRS
10, IFRS 12 and
IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards — Severe
Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for
First-time Adopters’

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards —
Government Loans?

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Transfers of Financial Assets'

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities®

Financial Instruments®

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture’

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint
Operations’

Fair Value Measurement?

Regulatory Deferral Accounts™

Revenue from Contracts with Customers?®
Leases"

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 (2011)
— Investment Entities*

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation
Exception’
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

2.2

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued) CEAEMRER ZEBRMBRS

R (&)

ARBEARZEVBREAEAT
§|JE53E{?E1E|ﬁiﬁixﬁZ%ﬁnT&?&ﬂk

The Company has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements: (Continued) BIPR B 75 AR - ()
Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative’ il -] BB
AL A HP
IAS 12 Amendments  Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes — Deferred Tax: BRetERENRETA BReHEMNERZETMAB

IAS 19 (2011)

IAS 19 Amendments

IAS 32 Amendments

IAS 36 Amendments

IAS 39 Amendments

Amendments to
IAS 16 and IAS 38

Amendments to
IAS 16 and IAS 41

Amendments to
IAS 27 (2011)

IFRIC 20

IFRIC 21

Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle

Annual Improvements
2010-2012 Cycle
Annual Improvements
2011-2013 Cycle

Annual Improvements
2012-2014 Cycle

Recovery of Underlying Assets?

Employee Benefits®

Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits — Defined
Benefit Plan: Employee Contributions®

Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation — Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial liabilities*

Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial
Assets®

Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement — Novation of

Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting*

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation
and Amortisation’

Agriculture: Bearer Plants’

Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements’

Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface
Mine?

Levies*

Amendments to a number of IFRSs issued in May
20123

Amendments to a number of IFRSs issued®

Amendments to a number of IFRSs issued®

Amendments to a number of IFRSs’
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

The Company has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements: (Continued)

f Effective for annual periods beginning on
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on
B Effective for annual periods beginning on
G Effective for annual periods beginning on

7 Effective for annual periods beginning on

or after 1 July 2011

or after 1 January 2012

or after 1 January 2013

or after 1 January 2014

or after 1 July 2014

or after 1 January 2015

or after 1 January 2016

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. In July
2015, the IASB confirmed to delay the effective date by one year to 1

January 2018.

© Effective for annual periods beginning on

or after 1 January 2018

i Effective for an entity that first adopts IFRSs for its annual financial
statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and therefore is not

applicable to the Company
n Effective for annual periods beginning on

or after 1 January 2019
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Further information about those changes that are expected to
significantly affect the Company is as follows:

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
— Transfers of Financial Assets

IFRS 7 Amendments require an entity to disclose information
about rights to set-off and related arrangements (e.g.,
collateral agreements). The disclosures would provide users
with information that is useful in evaluating the effect of
netting arrangements on an entity’s financial position. The new
disclosures are required for all recognised financial instruments
that are set off in accordance with IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation. The disclosures also apply to
recognised financial instruments that are subject to an
enforceable master netting arrangement or ‘similar agreement’,
irrespective of whether they are set off in accordance with IAS
32.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

IFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 was
amended in 2010 and includes the requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for
derecognition. In 2013, IFRS 9 was further amended to bring
into effect a substantial overhaul of hedge accounting that will
allow entities to better reflect their risk management activities
in the financial statements. A finalised version of IFRS 9 was
issued in 2014 to incorporate all the requirements of IFRS 9
that were issued in previous years with limited amendments to
the classification and measurement by introducing a “fair value
through other comprehensive income” (“FVTOCI")
measurement category for certain financial assets. The finalised
version of IFRS 9 also introduces an “expected credit loss”
model for impairment assessments.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL 2.2 [E FIERR B %5 o 5 22 A ([ B R
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS BRmEERE)
(Continued)
Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued) CEAEMRER ZEBRMBRS
%A (&)
IFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (Continued) B R 75 & R 95 (—F —
F)e T AE)
Key requirements of IFRS 9 (2014) are described as follows: B R B 75 R 5 R F O (ZF — U 5F)
ZEEREHMMOT
— All recognised financial assets that are within the scope = R R E3RemIT A
of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and BRRFEHEAMBEERZ
Measurement to be subsequently measured at amortised CREEEBARBHEKARIA
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are FTEFE AiEms RENA
held within a business model whose objective is to WEIEHIHASRE 2 EHEXF
collect the contractual cash flows, and that have REZEBIRE  UREHHRS
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of MEAAINAERAEELS
principal and interest on the principal outstanding are ZHNBZEBIRE  —RIZHR
generally measured at amortised cost at the end of S HBAEER 2 #HK ARG
subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that are E-REMNBRAFKEEAR®
held within a business model whose objective is achieved MERTESREE 2 EHER
both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling FEEZERETIAE UERemE
financial assets, and that have contractual terms of the EAHNKERSRETEHEELE Y
financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows REeEMEMAR/INETERKRER
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the rEeEZHMEZEBRIAE BAF
principal amount outstanding, are measured at FVTOCI. Bt AHEMEEKZE 2 A G
All other debt investments and equity investments are B oMAEHEHMEBKRERRKRAR
measured at their fair values at the end of subsequent BRINEZREBLEER AT
reporting periods. In addition, under IFRS 9 (2014), B E o o BIRBIRR B R
entities may make an irrevocable election to present HEAFSHR(ZZFT—UF) B
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity AT HEEERNEMEE
investment (that is not held for trading) in other Wam 25 A% & (I IERFE
comprehensive income, with only dividend income BEE)EBRZATEEZE  MmE
generally recognised in profit or loss. —REAT  EEREKAER
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL 2.2 FE PR Bt A% s 25 ZE A ([ R R
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS B REZER ) (F)
(Continued)
Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued) CHEAEMRERZEBRMBRS

IFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (Continued)

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, IFRS 9
(2014) requires that the amount of change in the fair
value of the financial liability that is attributable to
changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in
other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of
the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair
value of financial liabilities attributable to changes in the
financial liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss. Under IAS 39, the entire
amount of the change in the fair value of the financial
liability designated as fair value through profit or loss
was presented in profit or loss.

In the aspect of impairment assessments, the impairment
requirements relating to the accounting for an entity’s
expected credit losses on its financial assets and
commitments to extend credit were added. Those
requirements eliminate the threshold that was in IAS 39
for the recognition of credit losses. Under the
impairment approach in IFRS 9 (2014) it is no longer
necessary for a credit event to have occurred before
credit losses are recognised. Instead, expected credit
losses and changes in those expected credit losses
should always be accounted for. The amount of expected
credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition and,
consequently, more timely information is provided about
expected credit losses.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

IFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (Continued)

IFRS 9 (2014) introduces a new model which is more closely
aligns hedge accounting with risk management activities
undertaken by companies when hedging their financial and
non-financial risk exposures. As a principle-based approach,
IFRS 9 (2014) looks at whether a risk component can be
identified and measured and does not distinguish between
financial items and non-financial items. The new model also
enables an entity to use information produced internally for
risk management purposes as a basis for hedge accounting.
Under IAS 39, it is necessary to exhibit eligibility and
compliance with the requirements in IAS 39 using metrics that
are designed solely for accounting purposes. The new model
also includes eligibility criteria but these are based on an
economic assessment of the strength of the hedging
relationship. This can be determined using risk management
data. This should reduce the costs of implementation
compared with those for IAS 39 hedge accounting because it
reduces the amount of analysis that is required to be
undertaken only for accounting purposes.

IFRS 9 (2014) will become effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early application
permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the adoption of
IFRS 9 (2014) in the future may have significant impact on
amounts reported in respect of the Company’s financial assets
and financial liabilities.

Regarding the Company's financial assets and financial
liabilities, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate
of that effect until a detailed review has been completed.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments. Recognition
and Measurement — Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting

IAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by IFRS 9 in its entirety.
Before this entire replacement, the guidance in IAS 39 on
hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets continues
to apply. The Company expects to adopt IFRS 9 from 1
January 2015. The Company will quantify the effect in
conjunction with other phases, when the final standard
including all phases is issued.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28: Investment
Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS
28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The Company
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2016.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 (2011)
— Investment Entities

The amendments to IFRS 10 issued in December 2012 include
a definition of an investment entity and provide an exception
to the consolidation requirement for entities that meet the
definition of an investment entity. Investment entities are
required to account for subsidiaries at fair value through profit
or loss in accordance with IFRS 9 rather than consolidate
them. Consequential amendments were made to IFRS 12 and
IAS 27 (Revised). The amendments to IFRS 12 also set out the
disclosure requirements for investment entities. The Company
expects that these amendments will not have any impact on
the Company as the Company is not an investment entity as
defined in IFRS 10.

IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and a single
source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements
for use across IFRSs. The standard does not change the
circumstances in which the Company is required to use fair
value, but provides guidance on how fair value should be
applied where its use is already required or permitted under
other IFRSs. The Company expects to adopt IFRS 13
prospectively from 1 January 2013.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services. Thus, IFRS 15 introduces a model that
applies to contracts with customers, featuring a contract-based
five-step analysis of transactions to determine whether, how
much and when revenue is recognised. The five steps are as
follows:

) Identify the contract with the customer;
ii) Identify the performance obligations in the contract;
iii)  Determine the transaction price;

iv)  Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations; and

V) Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation.

IFRS 15 also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the
financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from
contracts with customers.

IFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition
guidance including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction
Contracts and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)

IFRS 15 will become effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2017 with early application permitted. The
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
IFRS 15 in the future may have a material impact on the
amounts reported and disclosures made in the Company’s
financial statements. However, it is not practicable to provide
a reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS 15 until the
Company performs a detailed review.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

The amendments to IAS 16 prohibit the use of revenue-based
depreciation methods for property, plant and equipment under
IAS 16. The amendments to IAS 38 introduce a rebuttable
presumption that the use of revenue-based amortisation
methods for intangible assets is inappropriate. This
presumption can be rebutted only in the following limited
circumstances:

i) when the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of
revenue;

i)  when a high correlation between revenue and the
consumption of the economic benefits of the intangible
assets could be demonstrated.

The amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 will become effective
for financial statements with annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2016. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments should be applied prospectively.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation
(Continued)

As the Company uses straight-line method for depreciation of
property, plant and equipment and for amortisation of
intangible assets, the directors of the Company do not
anticipate that the application of the amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 38 will have a material impact on the Company’s
financial statements.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1: Disclosure Initiative

The amendments clarify that companies should use
professional judgement in determining what information as
well as where and in what order information is presented in
the financial statements. Specifically, an entity should decide,
taking into consideration all relevant facts and circumstances,
how it aggregates information in the financial statements,
which include the notes. An entity does not require to provide
a specific disclosure required by a IFRS if the information
resulting from that disclosure is not material. This is the case
even if the IFRS contain a list of specific requirements or
describe them as minimum requirements.

Besides, the amendments provide some additional
requirements for presenting additional line items, headings and
subtotals when their presentation is relevant to an
understanding of the entity’s financial position and financial
performance respectively. Entities, in which they have
investments in associates or joint ventures, are required to
present the share of other comprehensive income of associates
and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method,
separated into the share of items that (i) will not be
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and (i) will be
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific
conditions are met.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify that:

) an entity should consider the effect on the
understandability and comparability of its financial
statements when determining the order of the notes;
and

i) significant accounting policies are not required to be
disclosed in one note, but instead can be included with
related information in other notes.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1: Disclosure Initiative (Continued)

The amendments will become effective for financial statements
with annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.
Earlier application is permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of Amendments to IAS 1 in the future may have a material
impact on the disclosures made in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes — Deferred Tax:
Recovery of Underlying Assets

IAS 12 Amendments clarify the determination of deferred tax
for investment property measured at fair value. The
amendments introduce a rebuttable presumption that deferred
tax on investment property measured at fair value should be
determined on the basis that its carrying amount will be
recovered through sale. Furthermore, the amendments
incorporate the requirement previously in SIC 21 Income Taxes
— Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets that deferred
tax on non-depreciable assets, measured using the revaluation
model in IAS 16, should always be measured on a sale basis.
The Company expects to adopt IAS 12 Amendments from 1
January 2012.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

IAS 19 (2011): Employee Benefits

The IAS 19 Amendments clarify the requirements that related
to how contributions from employees or third parties that are
linked to service should be attributed to periods off service. In
addition, it permits a practical expedient if the amount of the
contributions is independent of the number of years of service,
in that contribution, can, but are not required, to be
recognised as a reduction in the service cost in the period in
which the related service is rendered.

Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation — Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
liabilities

The IAS 32 Amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has
a legally enforceable right to set off” for offsetting financial
assets and financial liabilities. The amendments also clarify the
application of the offsetting criteria in IAS 32 to settlement
systems (such as central clearing house systems) which apply
gross settlement mechanisms that are not simultaneous. The
amendments are not expected to have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Company upon
adoption on 1 January 2014.

Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement — Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting

The IAS 39 Amendments provide relief from discontinuing
hedge accounting when novation of a derivative designated as
a hedging instrument meets certain criteria. These
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2014. The Company has not novated its
derivatives during the current period. However, these
amendments would be considered for future novations.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

IFRIC 21: Levies

IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity recognises a liability for a levy
when the activity that triggers payment, as identified by the
relevant legislation, occurs. For a levy that is triggered upon
reaching a minimum threshold, the interpretation clarifies that
no liability should be anticipated before the specified minimum
threshold is reached. IFRIC 21 is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2014. The Company does not
expect that IFRIC 21 will have material financial impact on
future financial statements.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle issued in
May 2012 sets out amendments to a number of IFRSs. The
Company expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January
2013. There are separate transitional provisions for each
standard. While the adoption of some of the amendments
may result in changes in accounting policies, none of these
amendments are expected to have a significant financial
impact on the Company. Those amendments that are expected
to have a significant impact on the Company’s policies are as
follows:

(a

AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Clarifies the
difference between voluntary additional comparative
information and the minimum required comparative
information. Generally, the minimum required
comparative period is the previous period. An entity
must include comparative information in the related
notes to the financial statements when it voluntarily
provides comparative information beyond the previous
period. The additional comparative information does not
need to contain a complete set of financial statements.

In addition, the amendments clarifies that the opening
statement of financial position as at the beginning of the
preceding period must be presented when an entity
changes its accounting policies; makes retrospective
restatements or makes reclassifications, and that change
has a material effect on the statement of financial
position. However, the related notes to the opening
statement of financial position as at the beginning of the
preceding period are not required to be presented.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle (Continued)

(b) 1AS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation: Clarifies that
income taxes arising from distributions to equity holders
are accounted for in accordance with IAS 12 Income
Taxes. The amendment removes existing income tax
requirements from IAS 32 and requires entities to apply
the requirements in IAS 12 to any income tax arising
from distributions to equity holders.

Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle issued in
December 2013 sets out amendments to a number of IFRSs.
Except for those described in note 2.2, the Company expects
to adopt the amendments from 1 July 2014. None of the
amendments are expected to have a significant financial
impact on the Company.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost basis as explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition, the financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation

The financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company made up to 31 December 2011.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Company, liabilities
incurred by the Company to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Company
in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the
Company entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with IFRS 2 at the
acquisition date; and
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Business combinations (Continued)

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’'s net assets in the event of
liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.
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(b)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Company in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its
acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments
against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot
exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how the
contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or
a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in
accordance with IAS 39, or |AS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as
appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Company'’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior
to the acquisition date that have previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would
be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
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Business combinations (Continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Company reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional
assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would
have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and represents
amounts receivable for goods sold in the normal course
of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when goods
are delivered and legal title is passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Company and the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably. Interest income from a financial asset is accrued
on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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(d)

(e)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Company as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under
operating leases are recognised as an expense in the
period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies
(i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Company’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The financial statements are presented
in RMB, which is the functional and presentation
currency of the Company and the Company’s
entities.

(1) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, except
when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow
hedges or qualifying net investment hedges.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

(f)

Foreign currencies (Continued)
(i) Transactions and balances (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in profit or loss within ‘finance income
or costs’.

Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the jurisdictions where the
Company and its subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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(f)

(9)

Current and deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill and deferred income tax is
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associates and jointly controlled entities, except where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Company and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.
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Borrowing costs (Continued)

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefits schemes
are charged as expenses when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at costs less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include
professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Company’s
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the
appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment, other construction in
progress, less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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3.

it

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

()

(1)

(k)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of
the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Prepaid lease payments

Prepaid lease payments represent payments for leasehold
land and are released over the lease terms on a straight-
line basis. Prepaid lease payments which are to be
released in the next twelve months or less are classified
as current assets.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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Intangible assets (Continued) (k) BEEEA

Research and development expenditure
(Continued)

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development (or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

o the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
assets so that it will be available for use or sale;

o the intention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

o the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

o how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

o the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and
to use or sell the intangible asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the
same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

U]

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Trademarks

Trademarks acquired in a business combination are
identified and recognised separately from goodwill where
it satisfies the definition of an intangible asset and its
fair values can be measured reliably. The costs of
trademarks are their fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible asset with
finite useful life are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment loss. The
intangible asset will be amortised on a straight-line basis
over its useful lives.

Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible assets, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the assets, are recognised in profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Company
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

U]

(m)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value costs to
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverse, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net

realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method.
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(n)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Company if:

(@)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person,

(i)

has control or joint control over the Company;

has significant influence over the Company;
or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Company or of a parent of
the Company; or

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

the entity and the Company are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Company are joint ventures
of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Company or an entity related to the
Company;
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Related parties (Continued) (n) BEZRSHE)
(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by (vi)y ZEBE@FH A
a person identified in (a); and AT gk R
54
(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant (Vi) @U)FE —R AT H
influence over the entity or is a member of ZEBEEARATEL
the key management personnel of the entity REZEBNIEER
(or of a parent of the entity). BB (K RZERE
NAEH) o
Financial instruments (o) €T H
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in TREERGRABRERER
the statement of financial position when a group entity B Rk TEEKEXHIETA R
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the KRB EANER o
instruments.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially PHMEEREREBENHRIZATF
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly EBEf=E WHEABTEREER
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets PRIAGEEERENR IR GE
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and BEREREATERENEHE
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are EREBAERIN RVIBERE
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial EMAZREEXETHRBENA
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial TE IR EEIEREE
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the BRAFEMBR(ER) - WEE
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair BERUATEAENEHEE
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately FEMEBENEZERERSHKA
in profit or loss. B RERANER -
Financial assets THEE

The Company’s financial assets are classified into loans
and receivables. Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. At the end of each
reporting period subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including trade and other receivables
and bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial assets and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instruments.

Impairment of financial assets

The financial assets are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of the reporting period. Financial
assets are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial assets, the estimated future cash flows of the
investment have been affected.

The objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Company’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit terms of the customers, as well as
observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired,
and is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with
the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduces through the use of an allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited to profit
or loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment losses was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost
would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance of
the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Company after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by
the Company are recognised at the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities (including borrowings and trade and

other payables) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments through the expected life
of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis and is included in finance costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Company has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the financial assets.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
is recognised in profit or loss.
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(o)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its
entirety (e.g. when the Company retains an option to
repurchase part of a transferred asset or retains a
residual interest that does not result in the retention of
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
the Company retains control), the Company allocates the
previous carrying amount of the financial asset between
the part it continues to recognise under continuing
involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the
basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the
date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying
amount allocated to the part that is no longer
recognised and the sum of the consideration received for
the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain
or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income is allocated between the
part that continues to be recognised and the part that is
no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair
values of those parts.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are the key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(a) Estimated write-down of inventories

The Company assesses periodically if the inventories have
been suffered from any impairment in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in note 3.

The identification of impairment of inventories requires
the use of judgement and estimates. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact carrying value of inventories and
write-down in the year in which such estimate has been
changed. The directors of the Company are satisfied that
this risk is minimal and no allowance for obsolete and
slow moving inventories was provided during the year
ended 31 December 2011 (2010: RMB Nil). The carrying
amount of inventories as at 31 December 2011 was
approximately RMBNil (2010: RMB20,219,000).
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PTAE ©

R R AEBRREFEFELRT
SR AETERIEF BT AT HRE
AIFRER e EZPHEER  AMHE#H
EARTEEHNZTERRAR - A
B RERT € (& ] HIMH Ko oK 2 5 ] e

=7
s ©

RAREMK  BEEERTEMBEFE
EENABENEEEEREAFAED
EARBHEATHETAZRMNEZR
JRI0R ¢

() FEMfLEH M

AARIRRMT ISR
EHFEEFEEBAGRE-

PRIEE R E S ZE R A &S
e WEBHAERRRELEE
Al EEEZEErE2 a0 ET
REFHMFEFEMNREME XM
oo RAREBEMZERE M
BWEMRBRERSHEHTERES
—E——F+-_A=1+—HILHF
EELBE( CZE—ZF:ARK
Tn) e RZE——F+=_A=+
—B FENEEEHNAZ(ZZ
—ZF: A R#20,219,0007T) °
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4.

X}

KEY SOURCE OF ESTIMATION (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Estimated impairment loss in respect of trade
and other receivables

As explained in note 3, trade and other receivables are
initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Appropriate allowances for estimated
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss
when there is objective evidence that the asset is
impaired.

The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the
use of judgement and estimates of expected future cash
inflows. Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact carrying
value of trade and other receivables and recognise as
doubtful debts expenses in the year in which such
estimate has been changed. The directors of the
Company are satisfied that this risk is minimal and no
allowance for doubtful debts was provided during the
year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: RMB Nil). The
carrying amount of trade and other receivables as at 31
December 2011 was approximately RMBNil (2010:
RMB15,711,000).

Useful life and residual value property, plant
and equipment

The management determines the residual value, useful
lives and related depreciation charges for its property,
plant and equipment. These estimates are based on the
historical experience of the actual residual value and
useful lives of plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions and may vary significantly as a result of
technical innovation and keen competition from
competitors, resulting in higher depreciation charge and/
or write-off or write-down of technically obsolete assets
when residual less than
previously estimated. The carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment as at 31 December 2011 was
approximately RMBNil (2010: RMB526,894,000).

value or useful lives are

4.

HETNEZERIRE)

(b)

(c)

FE i & 5 ik 7R & E A BB U 70O
B SR ER R

ANMTRESFAEL - U E SRR N E
fit B R IBNF IR A FEE
H 18 12 B R A 20K DA 85 B AN 5T
E-HMETBEBBRTIEER
B AeHRBEPERNMGE
N AU Bl SR IA M E R R o

HRIRERFTEHENARES
2 E B A E A o WA TEE
ERIRRGER BABEBRERG
VENBBGITLEZENEE
FE U B 5 BR 3k I E th FE IR SR IE Y
FHEEMERARERAY - AR
REEEHZRAKREMNE W E
ZERRAIREBEE_ZT——F
T+ A=+ RALFEEHERS
—E-EF:ARETIT) - R
T——%F+-_A=+—8 Bk
E SR E A EWRENR®
BEHNEBT(ZTE—ZTF:ARE
15,711,0007T) ©

ME BEERREBEZTRFESR
kFeREE

EEEETEYE BERXE
ZFBEE  TRFHEART
ERY - WEHBFHREUEE
RINEE 2 BB K%l 2 BRR T #
BEIATAFHBEELREDL
MEWMBFRAERKEBFHTF
ZEBIE S  Aee SRR EE S
AIAFESEIRE RN o ifF &
EE AT BE LN 2 A fHE
AEBZEREHEMTERS -
W,/ s i SH S MUR T BB 2 &
E-R-E——F+=_A=+—
H Y% BMEKZEMNERAE
HWAES(-CE—ZF: ARKE
526,894,0007T) °
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DE-CONSOLIDATION OF DE-CONSOLIDATED
SUBSIDIARIES

As explained in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and records of the Company
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the
previous years and the previous management of the Group did
not response to any request for information. The financial
results, assets and liabilities of the De-consolidated Subsidiaries
have not been included in the financial statements of the
Company and no consolidated financial statements were
prepared since 1 January 2011.

Details of the net assets of the De-consolidated Subsidiaries as
at 1 January 2011 are set out below:

(a) De-consolidation of De-consolidated
Subsidiaries

5.

HUEGREARRME 2T BUH &R
BAKR

NPT EE2AFT A - RAE E ERAE K
A RBEHARERBUEG A ARKRKE
RAIRNEMREBEFEZ T EKRME
AC 8% N 7K 55 8 A B HE FE K BE B FE (T A
BRMBEK - BUEHAARMBAR 2
MBERE BERBBYEFARRT
ZHBBERB-E——F—A—HE
BERUGAVBEHRE

BOBGEARMBRARARN T ——F—
A—RAZEEFEFBINHWT

(a) BUHGZREARMEARBUE &
AR

2011

—E——F

RMB’000

AR¥ET T

Property, plant and equipment M- BEREE 526,894

Prepaid lease payments A E R 39,298

Intangible assets | EE 11,535

Deferred tax assets EERIEEE 3,441

Inventories 7E 20,219

Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 BR 5k I H i FE UL 5K 1B 14,924

Bank balances and cash RITHABRE S 1,253,701

Trade and other payables FE & 5 BR 5k B B Ath JE K18 (107,091)

Income tax liabilities Fristii 8 & (56,868)

Borrowings (R (100,000)

Deferred tax liabilities REEHIEEE (22,960)
Net assets of the De-consolidated AAFEGRZBEGREAR

Subsidiaries attributable to the Company MEAREEFE 1,583,093

Loss on de-consolidation of De-consolidated EHUH %4 & A BR Kt B 2 7 BUH

Subsidiaries

BAEANREEZER 1,583,093
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5.

DE-CONSOLIDATION OF DE-CONSOLIDATED
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b) Net cash outflow arising on de-consolidation
of De-consolidated Subsidiaries

5.

HUHEAR S AR B 27 BUH &R
BARE)

(b) BUHGZREARME 2 TBUE G
BARELEZRERHFHE

2011
—E——fF
RMB’000
AR® TR
Cash and cash equivalents of BUEGREARHNBAR Z
De-consolidated Subsidiaries HekIREEEY (1,253,701)

(c) Amounts due to the De-consolidated Subsidiaries included
in the statement of financial position were as follows:

(0 ENBUEGEEAKRMEBARZK
HEAM BN KR Z A BB &
BARMBAR 2 HKIEWT

2011
—_E——F
RMB’000
ARB TR
Trade and other payables &1 B 5 B 3 e Ho Ath & <
RIA 810

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

No revenue and segment information were presented as the
Company did not conduct business during the year.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and records of the Company
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the
previous years. Given the incomplete books and records and
the previous management of the Group did not response to
any request for information, it is impossible and impracticable
for the directors of the Company to ascertain the amounts for
the current and the previous years. No representation is
therefore made by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, occurrence and accuracy of the revenue and
segment information as of the date of approval of the
financial statements.

6.

i =% & 7 &8 & #

BEZ KR RS BER  BAER
AIRFERAL EELER -

M E2 IR ARBEEREE
KEREBERARRRBUE & E A KM
BRARNEMRBEFE 2 T EKM
Kik - ARRMREENTEUAR
£ B A B IR FE I 8 @ R AE 0] IR EX
BHRMBEL ARREFEEZNER L
HUEEARBEFEZSHE - B
It RPBHRUERE  ARAES
BIRER D HBEHREZE 7
EREEBEREHR -
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OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HttamREE
2011 2010
—E——f —E-FF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARB T ARETF T
Other gains and losses: Hfth 2 J 548 -
Interest income from: FEWAZKRB AT ZIE:
— Others — HAh — 971

Loss on disposals of property, plant and HEW%E  WMELEZEZ

equipment E5 18 — (590)

Exchange losses IE 5 B 18 — (1,349)
— (968)

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the WU HRERM F2AMHEE - A QA
directors of the Company have been unable to locate and to EEREKIREHARR REUHER
get access to the complete books and records of the Company AEAEMNBARREIRBEFEZRT
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the BERM Rt sk - AR ERM REHT T
previous years. Given the incomplete books and records and B RAEB AT ERE N &EDEE
the previous management of the Group did not response to AERNER  ARARZESEERER
any request for information, it is impossible and impracticable FENETENRBEFEZEH -
for the directors of the Company to ascertain the amounts for Eit - RIS RERAERR - AAFE
the current and the previous years. No representation is EMIHEMBEEREEES T
therefore made by the directors of the Company as to the BHERERERER -

completeness, occurrence and accuracy of the other gains and
losses as of the date of approval of the financial statements.
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8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MBEAR
2011 2010
—E-——F —T-ZF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AR T T
Finance costs comprises: MBEERBRE:
Interest on: AR
— bank borrowings wholly repayable with — RAFE R 2 HEEH
five years RITE R — 5,815
— loans from Investors — REEEX — 8,857
— 14,672

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and records of the Company
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the
previous years. Given the incomplete books and records and
the previous management of the Group did not response to
any request for information, it is impossible and impracticable
for the directors of the Company to ascertain amounts for the
current and the previous years. No representation is therefore
made by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, occurrence and accuracy of the finance costs as
of the date of approval of the financial statements.

AN R M 2P - AR A
EEZREKIIREHART RBUS &
BARMBRARNENM R BEFELZT
B Rk - AR RMEEET T
BUARAEBEAEETIREY &M EE
MERNBER  ARBAEEBEEINER
LEUANEETEAMRBEFEZHELR -
Bt - R BRRALEBH - KAARE
EMTIMBEERRETE BAER
TR REHR -
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The Company’'s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after

ARAIBRBAT (B, 5 FEMBR T

charging the amounts as set out below. FKIE o
2010
—ZE-ZF
RMB’'000
ARBTT
(Loss)/profit before taxation has been LB S IEEH
arrived at after charging: BrELAT (BB m A
Staff costs (including directors’ BETRA(BIEESTHN :
emoluments):
— Salaries and wages — T& Rk 15,368
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions — B K& 5 &l 7% 1,325
16,693
Auditors’ remuneration 1% S B 37 B 1,380
Impairment loss recognised in respect of i fE U E 5 BR X & E b
trade and other receivables JEWRIE R 2R E & 1B —
Amortisation of intangible assets EmEEMH 1,520
Capital expenditure* BARR X * 13,296
Cost of inventories recognised as an BRAE-HAIHEEKAR
expense 443,655
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BMEREZBETE
equipment 26,338
Release of prepaid lease payments AN ERNEIEN =N 1,104
Research and development expenses X B 163
e Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and i BARAIBREREVE BMERZE -

equipment.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and records of the Company
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the
previous years. Given the incomplete books and records and
the previous management of the Group did not response to
any request for information, it is impossible and impracticable
for the directors of the Company to ascertain the amounts for
the current and the previous years. No representation is
therefore made by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, occurrence and accuracy of those expenses as of
the date of approval of the financial statements.

NP 2T ER - AR B EERAE
BEIREBAART RBUELEE A B
BRARREMRBEFE 2 T BKM
Kik - ARRMREENTEUAR
7L 18 A A B IR B I 8 @ R AE o] R EX
BRMBEL ARREFEEZNER L
HUARETENABAEFEZE® - B
It REBHRUERY  ARAES
BIRZERAXRETE  BERE
ERREH -
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 10. EE K& & M
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (@) EE=HM
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the ENKENAARESHMFS
directors of the Company are as follows: ONE

Year ended 31 December 2011
BZE-Z——S+-A=+-HLEE

Retirement
benefit
Directors’ scheme Other
Fees contributions emoluments Total
RIRER
EzHme & 13X H 1t 35 B
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTRT AR®TRT AR®T:R

Executive directors: WITES:
— Mr. Zhao Chuan Wen, — HEXEE
“Mr. Zhao CW" (note i) -2 3) — - — -
— Mr. Zhao Yu "Mr. Zhao" (note i) — #FEA(HEL])
(B i) — - - -
— Mr. Wang Delin, — IEMEE(ERED
“Mr. Wang" (note iii) (Fff &iii) - - - -
— Mr. Xia Yuan Jun, — EnERE(ELEE))
“Mr. Xia" (note iv) (B =Eiv) - - - -
— Mr. Fu Chong, “Mr. Fu” (note v) — &£ ELE])
(Fff Ev) — - - -
— Mr. Fong Pin Jan, — hEEEE(HEE]D
“Mr. Fong” (note vi) (BH 2Evi) — - - -

Independent non-executive directors: B IFHITES
— Mr. Cheung Hok Fung Alexander, — JRE3$2 % 4 ([REE KL )

“Mr. Cheung” (note vii) (Pff ZEvii) - - - -
— Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman, —REGRT(BRLL))

“Ms. Chan" (note viii) (Ff & viii) - - - -
— Mr. Zhang Zhou, — RARE(RARE]

“Mr. Zhang” (note ix) (Bt & ix) - - - -
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10. DIRECTORS" AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the
directors of the Company are as follows: (Continued)

10. EEREEHME

() EE=%HMA)

ENHENARAREZFHMFE
W (&)

Year ended 31 December 2010
BE-T-TET-A=+-ALER

Retirement
benefit
Directors’ scheme Other
Fees contributions emoluments Total
BIRER
XM AR H fth %5 B mE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETR
(As reported) (As reported)  (As reported)  (As reported)
(E2887) (B28&F) E2HEF) E2HET)

Executive directors:

— Mr. Zhao CW (note i)
— Mr. Zhao (note ii)

— Mr. Xia (note iv)

— Mr. Fu (note v)

— Mr. Fong (note vi)

Independent non-executive directors:

— Mr. Cheung (note vii)
— Ms. Chan (note viii)
— Mr. Zhang (note ix)

HITES:

— BEXEEME)
— 8 %  (F )

— BERA(M =)

— R E (M)

— 77 %A (M i)

BUEHTES:

— RBE LA (B i)
— PR 2z (P s viil)

— RA LA (M i)

167 — — 167
167 — 124 291
100 3 103 206
100 3 84 187
100 — — 100
75 — — 75
75 — — 75
75 — — 75

859 6 311 1,176
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(a)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate
and to get access to the complete books and records of
the Company and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for
the current and the previous years. Given the incomplete
books and records and the previous management of the
Group did not response to any request for information,
it is impossible and impracticable for the directors of the
Company to ascertain the amounts for the current and
the previous years. No representation is therefore made
by the directors of the Company as to the completeness,
occurrence and accuracy of the Company’s directors’
remuneration as of the date of approval of the financial
statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, no
remuneration was paid by the Company to the directors
of the Company as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Company or as compensation for loss of
office (2010: RMB Nil).

Notes:

i) Mr. Zhao CW was appointed as executive director and chairman
with effect from 10 October 2010. Mr. Zhao CW resigned as
chairman with effect from 18 August 2011. Mr. Zhao CW
resigned as executive director with effect from 21 January 2013.

ii) Mr. Zhao resigned as chief executive officer and was appointed
as chairman with effect from 18 August 2011. Mr. Zhao resigned
as executive director and chairman with effect from 10 January
2013.

iii) Mr. Wang was appointed as executive director and chief executive
officer with effect from 18 August 2011.

iv) Mr. Xia was appointed as executive director and deputy executive
officer with effect from 10 October 2010. Mr. Xia resigned as
executive director and deputy executive officer with effect from
3 January 2013.

(a)

EETMAE)

I HRERM E21AEE - A
NRAEZARELKILERARA
REUHER B ARM B AR R E Al
FBEFEZ TBRM MG
B AR MR T BIARARE
B 5 B 2 B I & B AT B
MBER ARAREFEBEZRER
EHAEEEM R BEFEZE
e At R B mMERUAER
H ARBEEHIRARAE
EFMED K  FEREREH
REH -

RBEE-_FT——F+t-_A=1+—
RIEFE  AAF YL EFARQF
EEXAEM - UEAMBAR
MBS E SRR EN S (=
FE—FFARBEL) -

&

HEXEEB-_ZT—Z2F+A+TH
HREZTR/NTESRER - BE
XEEEBZE-——FNATNAE
EREERE - BEXEEE T
=F-A-t+—BEEBEHRTE
=.

i MEEE-E-—FNAATNRE
EREEEATELEEEAE
Fe#ELEA-E—=F—A+A
REREATEEREA -

i) FEEAB-_E——FN\ATN\AE
BERERVTESRERNTE

iv) BAEBE-Z—ZEFTATHEE
ZERBITESERBEIERHTRE -
BEAEBR-_T—=F—-—A=ZHKE
HEMNTEERBEIEERTE °
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

v)

Vi)

vii)

viii)

Mr. Fu was appointed as executive director and chief operations
officer with effect from 10 October 2010. Mr. Fu resigned as
executive director and chief operations officer with effect from 1
October 2012.

Mr. Fong was appointed as executive director and chief financial
officer with effect from 10 October 2010. Mr. Fong resigned as
executive director and chief financial officer with effect from 10
January 2013.

Mr. Cheung was appointed as independent non-executive director
with effect from 10 October 2010. Mr. Cheung resigned as
independent non-executive director with effect from 15 June
2012.

Ms. Chan was appointed as independent non-executive director
with effect from 10 October 2010. Ms. Chan resigned as
independent non-executive director with effect from 14 June
2012.

Mr. Zhang was appointed as independent non-executive director
with effect from 10 October 2010. Mr. Zhang resigned as
independent non-executive director with effect from 15 May
2012.

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Company, none were the directors of the Company

for the year ended 31

December 2011 (2010: 4

directors), details of whose emoluments are included in
the disclosures above.

2011 £ REAXZERERAF

—E-—Ff A= —HIFE

10. EEREEFMN (&)

(a)

(b)

EETMAE)

GEE

=

Vi)

vii)

viii)

‘&

(&)

HreEa=-T—ZTF+A+ARE
ZAAPTESREREERS - 1
SEB-T——F+A—HEE#
FRATEEREEEEE -

AREAZE-TFE+ATHEE
RERRTEEREREVBE -7
EEB-_F-—=F—H+tHEEH
ERTEEREEMBE °

REHREEB-_T-TFTATH
REZERBILIERTES - RS
BAEEB-T-—_FATHAR
EREBLIFATES -

RaxtE-—Z—ZFF+ATAEHE
ZERBUIRPTES - RLLH
TR CHERNATHARERES
TEMITESE -

RALEEB_ZE-—ZFFTATHE
BEERBUFNTES - RAK
EBEZZE——FRAA+ABEEH
EBUFHTES -

#r

RBE-B——FT=A=+-
BIEFER  ARTAEBRSH A
THERARATNEE(CE—F
MR REFMEERL L
X BB -
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10. DIRECTORS" AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued)

The emoluments of the remaining five individuals during
the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: 1 individual)

were as follows:

10. EEREEFM(EF)

(b)

BEZHM(H)

NBE-F-FE+-A=+—
ALFE BTAA(CE-%
- R)ALHFEHET

2011 2010

—E2——fF —E-ZF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR T AREF T

Salaries and allowances BN &% Ah — 137
Retirement benefit scheme R KTE 7 58] 4 3%

contributions — 2

— 139

During the vyears ended 31 December 2011 and 31
December 2010, the emoluments of each of the five

highest paid individuals were within RMB1,000,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2011,

remuneration was paid by the Company to any of the five
individuals with the highest emoluments in the Company
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Company or

as compensation for loss of office (2010: RMB Nil).

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate
and to get access to the complete books and records of
the Company and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for
the current and the previous years. Given the incomplete
books and records and the previous management of the
Group did not response to any request for information,
it is impossible and impracticable for the directors of the
Company to ascertain the amounts for the current and
the previous years. No representation is therefore made
by the directors of the Company as to the completeness,

E-FT——H+-A=t+—Ak
TE-—TE+-_A=+—HILE
A& EHA LTS B8 H
HIE N A R #1,000,0007T °

RBE-F——F+=A=+—
AL ADFLB/AXLT
AEBBEHFALEAMS (ST
TEARKERL)  EAME
N ) 58 B 51 75 5 A 5 0 B

I TG MR M 21K E - A
RRAEZRELKIRERARA
KREUHER B A RN B 2R R E Al
FBEFEZ TBRM MG
MR RMEEE N TEURAS
BREEREY EOEEMNER
MER  RAREETEERER
LHUAREZENLBEFEZSE
e At MU B HmEMAER
B ARAREZH A& F
BANBREEHREE  #A

occurrence and accuracy of the disclosures on individuals
with highest emoluments as of the date of approval of
the financial statements.

REEHRBH -
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As disclosed in notes 2.1 and 21 to the financial statements,
the directors of the Company have been unable to locate the
complete books and records of the Company for the current
and the previous years. The other suspense account represents
loss recognised in respect of the bank balances and cash of
which the directors of the Company have been unable to
locate relevant bank accounts and whereabouts of the bank
balances and cash. Given the incomplete books and records
and the previous management of the Group did not response
to any request for information, it is impossible and
impracticable for the directors of the Company to ascertain
the amounts for the current and the previous years. No
representation is therefore made by the directors of the
Company as to the completeness, occurrence and accuracy of
the disclosures loss recognised in respect of other suspense
account as of the date of approval of the financial statements.

Income tax expenses comprise: Frs i e :
Current PRC enterprise income tax

Deferred taxation (see note 18)

Hong Kong Profits Tax rate was 16.5%. No provision for Hong
Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Company did not have
any assessable profit arising in Hong Kong for the year.

The statutory tax rate of Global Milk for the year ended 31
December 2010 was 17%. No provision for Singapore income
tax has been made as the Group did not derive any taxable
income in the Republic of Singapore for the year ended 31
December 2010.

BIEAFR B 1> FR1S /R
i SE 7 18 (5 M 5£18)

I E2AR 2R E - ARABEER
KB ARAEZEAMRBEFEZ T E
Rt ks - B REEREL AR
AEFEREKRINEBRITERPRRIT
BRMRENTENRTERLES
PR BE - ARNKRMEEETT
BUARKEBAMEEIRE Y &DOEE
AIRMEMMFR  ARREFEAR
ERLHEUBEEMRBEFEZS
B Bt RMBRRAERY - AQ
AEEMIER/SEMBRKEALZ
ERROTE TFENERZEREHR -

2010
—E—FF
RMB’000
AR T T

110,389
(4,379)

106,010

BEEMNBHREE16.5% - ARERAR
FABMBERBFBEEEMERVGH -
WA EEHB RS RBEE

Global MilkREZ-ZZT—ZTF+=-A=
+—BIEFEIR1T%EEERHR BT -
HRAREBRNEBEE-—T—ZE+_-_A=
+—BIEFERE I EME S
o] FE AR B Uk A - 8K 37 4 1 5 0 3%
FTiSTis -
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued) 12. FRri8®iB X (&)
The statutory tax rate of the PRC Subsidiaries for the year REBEE_ZT-—TF+_A=+—HIF
ended 31 December 2010 was 25%. I ‘:P.WJ;" A EER ER25% ©
The income tax expenses can be reconciled to the (loss)/profit s EBa R EMmE2E KRR
before taxation per the statement of profit or loss and other NEBRB A (EER) RFEEAT:

comprehensive income as follows:

2011 2010
—B-—fF —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARETT

(Loss)/profit before taxation BE A (BE), % F (1,606,997) 366,598

Tax at the statutory tax rates RAEEBRERZMIA (265,154) 91,650

Effect of sales rebates (note a below) and 7~ ] 30 %% & & 3 7|

other expenses that are not deductible (R 3Bt 3 (@) &
for taxation purpose HihAx & 1,777 13,453
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax  H 78 R U A B9 B 7
purpose FE — (1,078)
Effect of unrecognised deductible losses 7 ¥ 52 7] & 40 &5 48 )SZ—HEE n
and deductible temporary differences TREEENTE 263,377 1,985
— 106,010

Note: it -

(@ Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, during the year (a) BEPEEBEELRER REE_Z—
ended 31 December 2010, certain sales rebates payable to customers EE+-_A=+—HI=EE ENEEH
are non-deductible for tax purpose as the Group did not obtain the ETHERNATTNN  RRARAER
relevant tax deduction documents from its customers. The directors of WIRARZLIEGHBINGHE - EERK -
the Company represented that in view of a substantial number of ENFSREEFHEREA AEEBRRE
customers involved, it was not practicable and the cost would be out of WERAEBIMHR XL TERAIIT BFF
benefit for the Group to obtain such tax deduction documents from the SRR TAEFEANEEBNFZ - Bt - A&
customers. As such, the related amounts have been accounted for as HEeEEAEATATMKER

non-deductible item for tax purpose.
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As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and records of the Company
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the
previous years. Given the incomplete books and records and
the previous management of the Group did not response to
any request for information, it is impossible and impracticable
for the directors of the Company to ascertain the amounts for
the current and the previous years. No representation is
therefore made by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness and accuracy of the income tax expenses as of
the date of approval of the financial statements.

No dividend has been paid or proposed by the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: RMB Nil).

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate
complete books and records of the Company and the De-
consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the previous
years. Given the incomplete books and records and the
previous management of the Group did not response to any
request for information, it is impossible and impracticable for
the directors of the Company to ascertain amounts for the
current and the previous years. No representation is therefore
made by the directors of the Company as to the completeness
and accuracy of the dividend as of the date of approval of the
financial statements.

M 2K E - ARBEFERAE
WEI R ERARR RBUH & E A RRH
BREAINEMEBEFE 2 T BRM
Ktk dARKMELETTEAR
7R & E A AE B IR 3 @ R AE ] R EX
BERWGBER ARRESFEEINER L
BUAREENRBAEFEZS® - B
b R HRALERS NARES
BMIRAFAERAXEE T B R EEE
REH -

AR RBE-_T——F+_A=+—
BIFFEWESHRBREANKE(Z
T—FTFAREZTT) -

BINHE2 AT ARBEEREE
KEARRBIRNEMEBEFE 2B
R R AL 8% - AR AR R A 8% 1 2 B
PA R 2N &% 18 Al E B 3R B AR 3 R {E ]
RMERNBEL  ARREFEEZNE
BREBAEEEMRBEFEZEHE -
Hit > R BHmRIERH  ARRE
ERTHARERE B NERERE
AR o
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14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

14. ZRREBAEBEZR(E
8) &7

ARRFEAANREERELR(ER), &
MTRBET 5 BIBFE

2011 2010
—3--%  —T-2F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T AR FIT
(Loss)/earnings (E18) BA
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to ARsrEER(EEB), &F
owners of the Company for the purpose  Z AR FIHE A A BIEFER
of basic (loss)/earnings per share (E518) /% A (1,606,997) 260,588
Number of shares 132 E 2011 2010
Weighted average number of ordinary ARAEERER
shares for the purpose of basic (loss)/ (BB &BF L@k
earnings per share hn#E 39 & 1,010,500,000 781,507,977

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate
complete books and records of the Company for the current
and the previous years. Given the incomplete books and
records and the previous management of the Group did not
response to any request for information, it is impossible and
impracticable for the directors of the Company to ascertain
amounts for the current and the previous years. No
representation is therefore made by the directors of the
Company as to the accuracy of the (loss)/earnings per share of
the Company as of the date of approval of the financial
statements.

AN 2R EE - AAREE R
KEARRBRNEMEBEFE 2 &
RR R AL ik - AR AR R A8 B
UA R 2N &2 (B AT 4E B 3R JE P A% 30 E {E ]
RMEMHBFELRL ARREFTEELIRE
BREBAEEMRBEFEZEHE -
At - R BRRALEBH - KARE
EMTIRARRER (BB, BIRE
TWHERER -
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14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 14. ZATEEAELE TR (B

TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 18), B (&)

(Continued)

The computation of the diluted loss per share for the year FEEHE_E——F+ZHA=+—H1t
ended 31 December 2011 does not assume the conversion of FEZEREEERT RBEERAR
the Company’s outstanding share options since their exercise RElZEARITEERE  ARITFEZ
would result in a decrease in the loss per share for the year. EERESERFNEREERD -
There were no potential dilutive shares in existence during the HRBE-ZE—ZF+_A=+—AH1t
year ended 31 December 2010 and therefore, no diluted (loss)/ FEVEETHERG  ARTES

earnings per share amounts have been presented. PG R EE (518) & o
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HE—F——F+_A=+—HIFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. W% BERRE

Furniture
fixtures and

Plant and office Motor  Construction
Buildings machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
BE
BEHER
BF HBERER ARG RE ERIR A&t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
AR®TR AR%®TR AR%®Tn AR%®TxR ARSTRT AR%TR
COST [N
At 1 January 2010 W-_Z-ZT4-—f—A8 150,377 153,700 4,367 9,102 248,140 565,686
Additions nEB — 3,731 2,190 1,329 6,046 13,296
Transfer BE 17,328 11,371 1,851 60 (30,610) —
Disposals HE (367) — = (1,443) — (1,810)
At 31 December 2010 and RZZE—ZTF+=-A=+—H
1 January 2011 k=—F——%—F—H 167,338 168,802 8,408 9,048 223,576 577,172
De-consolidation of BUHEAARKBAR
De-consolidated Subsidiaries BB A AR
(note 5(a) (K¥ #5()) (167,338) (168,802) (8,408) (9,048) (223,576)  (577,172)
At 31 December 2011 RZFB——F+=-A=+—8 — — — — — —
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Z:&HiT &
At 1 January 2010 R-ZZT—-Z5—A—H 10,258 12,802 472 1,161 — 24,693
Provided for the year FNBE 8,221 15,866 1,264 987 — 26,338
Eliminated on disposals B 5 8 (305) = = (448) = (753)
At 31 December 2010 and RZZ—ZF+=-A=+—8H
1 January 2011 k-_ZT——%—f—H 18,174 28,668 1,736 1,700 — 50,278
De-consolidation of BUELZR A ARKE AR
De-consolidated Subsidiaries BUB#R A AR
(note 5(a) (Bf 5E5()) (18,174) (28,668) (1,736) (1,700) — (50,278)
At 31 December 2011 w-—2——F+=-A=1+—H = = = = = =
NET BOOK VALUE REFE
At 31 December 2011 R=B——%+=HA=+-H = = = = = =
At 31 December 2010 R=ZE—ZTF+=-RA=1+—H 149,164 140,134 6,672 7,348 223,576 526,894
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The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, after taking into account of their
estimate residual values, are depreciated on a straight-line
basis at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 20 years
Plant and machinery 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 8 years

The buildings as at 31 December 2010 shown above are
situated on land use rights in the PRC which are held by the
Group under medium term lease.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and records of the Company
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the
previous years. Given the incomplete books and records and
the previous management of the Group did not response to
any request for information, it is impossible and impracticable
for the directors of the Company to ascertain the balances for
the current and the previous years. No representation is
therefore made by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, existence and accuracy of the property, plant
and equipment of the Company as of the date of approval of
the financial statements.

ME - BELREHLRER - BRER
TN SAREMBFRBREER  RIE

INTFERIZELZETE :

BF 204
BE R -
RN BEEEE R AR 54
R E 84

ERFRR=F-FF+=A=+—H
ZEFHRGE KL A EE A
I A E R -

AN B R M 2P E - AR A
EEZAREKIREHNART MBUS &
BARMBARNENM M BEFELZT
ERM Kk - BRI R8T T
B RAEBEAMEE R E I & D EE
MEBNFER  ARREFEARER
LEUANEETEAMRNBEFEZHELR -
At - R B RRAEBE - NAFE
EMIRARBZYE BEERER
BB GEREEERBH-

133



134

Annual Report 2011

For the year ended 31 December 2011 # = — & FFZH=F+—HIFE
Analysed for reporting purpose as: RERAEINAT
— Non-current assets — EmBEE
— Current assets — REBEE

The amounts represent land use rights in respect of land
situated in the PRC and held under medium-term leases. Land
use rights are released on a straight-line basis over the
relevant terms of the land use rights certificate.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and records of the Company
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the
previous years. Given the incomplete books and records and
the previous management of the Group did not response to
any request for information, it is impossible and impracticable
for the directors of the Company to ascertain the balances for
the current and the previous years. No representation is
therefore made by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, existence and accuracy of the prepaid lease
payments of the Company as of the date of approval of the
financial statements.

2010
—E—FF
RMB’000
ARETF T

38,451
847

39,298

ZETRELNTERTARERSE
T EOAERE L E A o L
RELIBEREZHBHERREGZE
TOARRER ©

AN B R M 2 AP - AR A
EEZREKIIREHART RBUS &
BARMBARNEM R BEFELZ T
AR K8k o B AR RA 8T 5T
BUARAEBEAETEEY SO EE
MERNFER  ARAEZBELER
LEANEETEAMRBEFEZHELR -
Bt - R BRRAEBE - KAFE
EMTUARBZEBNEERE TR
FEMERBEREH -
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Trademarks
[
RMB’000
AR¥ET T
COST A
At 1 January 2010 and 2011 R_E—ZTFER_ZF——F—H—H 15,200
De-consolidation of De-consolidated Subsidiaries EUEAR A ABRK B A 7 BUE 4R A A BR
(note 5(a)) (B 5E5()) (15,200)
At 31 December 2011 RZZE——F+=-A=+—H —
AMORTISATION #ey
At 1 January 2010 RZE—FF —H 2,145
Amortisation for the year F N # 5 1,520
At 31 December 2010 and 1 January 2011 RZE-—FTF+_HA=+—H
F—E——F—HF—H 3,665
De-consolidation of De-consolidated Subsidiaries EUEAR A ABRKE A 7 BUE 4 A A BR
(note 5(a)) (B 5E5(a)) (3,665)
At 31 December 2011 RZZE——F+=-A=+—H —
CARRYING VALUES R E
At 31 December 2011 R-E——F+=-A=+—H —
At 31 December 2010 RZE—LEF+_HA=+—H 11,535

The amounts were amortised on a straight-line basis over a
period of 10 years.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and records of the Company
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the
previous years. Given the incomplete books and records and
the previous management of the Group did not response to
any request for information, it is impossible and impracticable
for the directors of the Company to ascertain the balances for
the current and the previous years. No representation is
therefore made by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, existence and accuracy of the intangible assets
of the Company as of the date of approval of the financial
statements.

ZECRDBRBIOCFHRIZEG LS

MM RRM T2 E - AR A
%%ﬁi%#&']&§Fﬁ$/“ﬁ&325%£*
BARMBRARRNENMBEFEZ T
%é!%ﬁﬂ%&aﬂﬁz EEECEEH%&aEﬁTn
B NAKEBAMEE IR B & D EE

AIEREER $“‘7%$ﬂ5£&?ﬁﬁf’%
LHEAEEEMRBEFEZE

Ht R RRIERH - A0 Ti
EMIRARRZENEERETE
FERERBEREHR -
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18. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 18.

The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised and the movements thereon, during the current
and prior years:

ELEBEEERER

UTARENFER LEFECERN
EERBAEE(RBE)REES:

Timing Withholding
difference Fair value tax on
on expenses adjustments undistributed
recognition on acquisition dividend Total
i | WER RoBERE
HEMEEE ATEAER BB gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR¥Tr AR%®Tn AR®Tr
At 1 January 2010 RZT—TF—H—H = 12,345 11,553 23,898
Credit to profit or loss REBEFTA (3,441) (938) — (4,379)
At 31 December 2010 and R-_Z—ZT&+_fA=+—H
1 January 2011 k=—Z——%—H—H (3,441) 11,407 11,553 19,519
De-consolidation of BB S A @Mﬂ%& ]
De-consolidated BUA#R & A
Subsidiaries (note 5(a)) (Pt &E5(a » 3,441 (11,407) (11,553) (19,519)
At 31 December 2011 R-ZB——%+=-A=+—H = = = =
For the purpose of presentation in the statement of financial HEFNMBRAEME - & FRER
position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been HEENABBEDERE - W TEHG

offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purpose:

A 75 ¥R 5 T A B B0 IR ST AR TR A B D AT

2011 2010

—E——F —E—ZF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AR T T

Deferred tax assets BRI E BE — 3,441
Deferred tax liabilities R IEHEE — (22,960)

(19,519)
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In accordance to PRC tax circular (Guoshuihan 2008 112)
effective from 1 January 2008, PRC withholding income tax at
the rate of 10% is applicable to dividends to be payable by
the Company’'s PRC operating subsidiaries based on their
profits generated from 2008 onwards to “nonresident”
investors who do not have an establishment or place of
business in the PRC. According to the "Agreement between
the Government of the People’s Republic of China and the
Government of the Republic of Singapore for the avoidance of
double taxation and the prevention of fiscal evasion with
respect to taxes on income”, where the Singapore resident
company directly owns at least 25% of the capital of the PRC
company, 5% dividend withholding tax rate is applicable.

Pursuant to the resolution of board of Global Milk, the
shareholder of Daging Dairy, Global Milk has given an
irrevocable undertaking that Global Milk will not procure
Daging Dairy to remit any dividend out of its profits for the
year ended 31 December 2010. Accordingly, the net profit of
Daging Dairy, the Group’s principal operating subsidiary, for
the year ended 31 December 2010 will be retained and not be
distributed. At 31 December 2010, the aggregate amount of
temporary difference associated with undistributed earnings of
Daqging Dairy was approximately RMB272,468,000 for which
deferred tax liability has not been recognised. No liability has
been recognised in respect of this amount because the Group
is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will neither reverse nor subject to withholding tax in
the foreseeable future.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and records of the Company
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the
previous years. Given the incomplete books and records and
the previous management of the Group did not response to
any request for information, it is impossible and impracticable
for the directors of the Company to ascertain the balances for
the current and the previous years. No representation is
therefore made by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness and the accuracy of the deferred tax assets/
(liabilities) of the Company as of the date of approval of the
financial statements.

B E BT @ A (B 2008112
) BZTZEN\F—A B EFH
BARB KB EESFNEER ]
BEENRE(EHRARR R B LEH
BRARIBR-_ZEZENFZ2EMBRNAE
) R 10% HY B R B R B TR PR
B8 o BB (P EA R £ B BT 05
M EMERFERNEMEE AL S
AR LE R R B9 1 E ) + 0T AN
ERAGEEHATRHATKREAE D
5% BlE AR BEFENMBE XA
5% o

BiEGlobal Mk ESZZ RGBSR - AE
I 5 B A A& B Global Milk#E 7 /] i [al
# 5% - Global Milk Singapore# T & &
EHE—T—ZTF+_A=+—HItF
& A FE HAERAR B - Bt AEBEK
FELEEWBRAAELRHBREA
ERBE_Z—ZF+-_A=1+—H1
FENERNATHR - RZZTE—ZTF+
ZA=F+—RA BEREImERDIKE
FEENEREZB(WAREERE
EFIBBEE) BARM272,468,0007T °
RS £ B A] 2 ) 8 [0 T By = RE A
- MzxSEERBART R SR
B AT EEZEEREERRE

& -

AN B RR M 2 AP E - AR A
EEZREKIIREHART RBUS &
BARMBARNEN R BEFELZ T
EARM K8k o B ARl R8T T
BUARAEEAETEEY B EE
MERNFER  ARAEZBELER
LEUNEETEAMRBEFEZHELR -
Bt - R B RRAEBE - KAFE
EMTRARRZEERBEEERA
ERETBNERBERENR -
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19. INVENTORIES 19. B &
2011 2010
—Z——f —E-TF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARB T ARETF T
Raw materials R # k — 9,961
Finished goods K & — 10,258
— 20,219

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and records of the Company
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the
previous years. Given the incomplete books and records and
the previous management of the Group did not response to
any request for information, it is impossible and impracticable
for the directors of the Company to ascertain the balances for
the current and the previous years. No representation is
therefore made by the directors of the Company as to
completeness and the accuracy of the inventories as of the
date of approval of the financial statements.

AT RRM T2 WE - AR A
EERERINREHAARF REUHE &
BARMBARNERNMBEFE 2%
BARM KR8k o B0 ARt B RS 81 52
BARKAEEAEETEEY &M EE
MERKFER  ARAEZEERER
LHEANEETEMRBEFEZHEER -
At - R HRERA LAY - ARFE
EMIURBEEE BN ERERE
BH o
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2011 £ REAXZERERAF

X}

. ERE SRR HA B

M IE
2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETT
Trade receivables U E 5Bk 3K 787 10,525
Advances to suppliers | it JE 7 = K — 3,905
Prepayments B R IA — 835
Amount due from a related party JiE W 8 58 75 3R IR
— RETMEGERA@ER TERAR — AEMAERFRE®
(Daging Baixinyuan Concrete Products Bt L AR A A
Co., Ltd.* “Daging Baixinyuan”) TKREBERD — 251
Others Efth — 195
787 15,711
Impairment losses recognised EHRAEMEERE (787) —
— 15,711
w The English name is for identification purpose only. # WY LTBEMELR

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate
complete books and records for the current year and the
previous years. Given the incomplete books and records and
the previous management of the Group did not response to
any request for information, it is impossible and impracticable
for the directors of the Company to ascertain the balances for
the current and the previous years. No representation is
therefore made by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, existence and accuracy of the trade and other
receivables of the Company, or to perform a detailed analysis
of the Company’s trade and other receivable aging, credit
policy and impairment assessment.

NP 2R EE - KRR EE R
REEMREBEFE 2 T BRM R
o ARNEMEEHETTEUARKRE
= B B E I & [ R AE A REVE
MR ARBEFEERER LN
BEEMMBEFE &S - Bt - K
RABEH IR ARBZERE 5K
AEREBEEREARETE FER
EEBXRBR IFHAITARALZ
& U5 5 5 B R e EL b B MR TR 2 Bk
EEBRREBENG -
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21.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH 21.

As at 31 December 2011, the Company’s bank balances carry
market interest rate of 0.39% per annum (2010: 0.36% per
annum).

The Company and the Group's bank balances and cash as at
31 December 2011 and 2010 respectively denominated in

RITERRRE

R=B——F+-A=+—A0 £AHF
R ERIT 4 BRI T B FIR0.39% (=ZF
—ZF FHEK036%)HE -

ARAEAEESRIR - E——F R
Z—_FTA=+T—HHNRTEHK

following currencies: RERINTEEGE:
2011 2010
—E——F —E—FF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARB T ARETT

Currency: BE¥:

United States dollars (the “USD") Erx(=mxlh) 3 2,483
Singapore dollar (the “S$") o3 oo (T3 3% 7T l) — 550
HK$ BT — 9,897

The Company’s bank balances and cash denominated in RMB
are not a freely convertible currency in the international
market. The remittance of RMB out of the PRC is subject to
exchange restrictions imposed by the Government of the PRC.

ARRIRTTEHBRRE R ARBEE -
REEMSIFEHALERER - RIS
SN B BE FR 72 B ST P B BT B B Y
S| FE PR I ©
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As disclosed in note 32 of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the 2010 Financial Statements, a bank balances
and cash amounted to approximately RMB11,523,000 was
recorded on the statement of financial position of the
Company at 31 December 2010. Except for bank balances of
approximately RMB3,000, the directors of the Company have
not been able to locate relevant bank accounts and
whereabouts of the bank balances and cash. The Company
engaged the Forensic Accountants to conduct investigations,
including (i) send letters to the Predecessor Auditors to request
them provide the relevant bank information; and (ii) send
letters to banks in Hong Kong (including licensed banks,
restricted licensed banks and deposit-taking companies)
(collectively referred as to the “Banks”) to make enquiry on
whether the Company maintained any accounts in the Banks.
However, as of the date of approval of the financial
statements, the Predecessor Auditors only replied that the
relevant information was not available as it was located in
their PRC office. In addition, no Banks have indicated the
existence of any bank accounts of the Company up to the
date of approval of the financial statements. Given these
circumstances, the directors of the Company recognised a loss
of approximately RMB11,520,000 as other suspense account in
the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2011.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate
complete books and records of the Company, including bank
accounts of the Company for the current and the previous
years. Given the incomplete books and records of the
Company and the Company’s previous management did not
response to the request for information of the relevant bank
accounts, it would be impossible and impracticable to
ascertain the balance of the bank balances and cash as of 1
January 2011 and 31 December 2011 and transactions took
place for the year ended 31 December 2011 and to obtain
sufficient documentary information to satisfy themselves
regarding the nature, completeness, existence and accuracy of
the bank transactions. No representation is therefore made by
the directors of the Company as to the completeness,
existence and accuracy of the bank balances and cash as of
the date of approval of the financial statements.

HUAEFEEHEEZE—ZT—ZFF+_A=1+
—BIEFENEE B RERN FE32FT
BHE RTEHEEBESOARE
11,523,000t B ARRGR_ZE—F
FFTA=FT—HAZHBMRRE - BT
A RME3000T 2 SRITERRIN  AA
RIEEREKEEBRITEFURZ
SRTEBRERESHTE - XARIEER
EXBeMELRAE - BIE: ()BE
FRIMEZ B ERE FREHEBAIRT
B RNWBEETEEACRITEE
FEERT BRHERBRRTREST
RARN S ZERIT]) - BERARA
REEZERTHAIKTEMRNERS - &
i KRBTSR B EBE - AIEiX EED
ELOEBRERIMABEER  EHK
ERAIEZEMAEFREZHFEE - It
SN BEMERERIAERRLE  ZER
THRRBEBEEMNARGRITERLT
£ ZEEREZERBN AR ESNE
22—+ _A=1+—HIEEEZ
BaElEM2ERIXREREEOA
R #11,520,0007T A H b &R BRIE -
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. ERESZRAREMENS
FIE
2011 2010
—E——F —ZET-ZF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
Bt AR¥T AR T T
Trade payables FE B 5 R a — 5,955
Advances from customers BEP 8% b — 36,571
Amount due to a related company JE{fBEE QA F (KE ™
(Dazheng Real Estate K IE = Hh 2= 3
Development Co., Ltd., “Dazheng AR AR ([ KERFE]))
Real Estate”) (note 28(a)) A (B 7E28(a)) — 200
Payable on acquisition of property, WHE¥ %  BE R & HE
plant and equipment: FESFFRTE -
— REMAEZEELZEFRAR — BEIARNKEMALE
(Daging City Dazheng Building BETZEFARAA
Installation Co., Ltd# (TRIEEE])
“Dazheng Building”), a related (Bt 5E28(@a))
company (note 28(a)) C — 7,255
— Others — Hfth — 21,573
— 28,828
Other tax payables E b JE T 35 18 d — 19,824
Accrued expenses JEE R X 828 18,857
Amount due to a subsidiary JE 15T BfY /BB A R 3k 18 810 —
Other payables H At JE T 50 IE 3,587 1,253
5,225 111,488

# The English name is for identification purpose only.

g XA EHRER
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 22. BB ZEFH R H b FE

Notes:
(@) Trade payables

As at 31 December 2010, the Group's trade payables principally
comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases. Payment terms with
suppliers are on an average credit period of 30 days from the time
when the goods are received from suppliers.

The aged analysis of the Group's trade payables presented based on
invoice date as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

MIE (&)
GEE
@ ENESXHE
R-Z—ZHE+-A=+—0 A%EEE
HESERTEOFERSRMKERR
o BB 7 2 T BRI R 4 A
2% B8 T {5 B 308 -

AEBREZAH2INNEN B SERARN
BEHROREDTAOT

2011 2010

—E——F —T-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ARKETT

Within 30 days 308 A — 5,955

(b) Advances from customers

The amounts mainly comprise deposits for supply of goods to
customers.

(c) Amount due to Dazheng Real Estate./Payable on acquisition of property,
plant and equipment to Dazheng Building

The amounts are interest-free, unsecured and are repayable on demand.

(d) Other tax payables

As at 31 December 2010, included in the Group’s other tax payables is
an amount of approximately RMB15,377,000 related to value added tax
payable.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and records of the Company
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the
previous years. Given the incomplete books and records and
the previous management of the Group did not response to
any request for information, it is impossible and impracticable
for the directors of the Company to ascertain the balances for
the current and the previous years. No representation is
therefore made by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, existence and accuracy of the trade and other
payables as of the date of approval of the financial
statements.
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RZT—TF+-_A=+—8B AEEH
ftb, FE {<F %51 1E B0 ¥ B FE A R A TR A A 00 RUE
49 A R #15,377,0007T °
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23. BORROWINGS 23. B

2011 2010
—E——F —T-ZF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR T AR T T
Bank borrowings T E K a
— Unsecured — EIK b — 100,000
Carrying amounts repayable: EEEREE:
— More than one year, but not — BB —FEREFENRN
exceeding two years — =
— More than two years, but not — BBEMFERAFR
exceeding five years — 100,000
— 100,000
Notes: B 3
(a) The bank borrowings carry effective interest rate per annum as follows: (a) BITERERENENT
2011 2010
S i —z-=z%
% %
Effective interest rates: BERA =
Fixed rates interest borrowings & 5E F % f& 5K — 5.3

(b) Unsecured bank borrowings

As at 31 December 2010, bank borrowings of RMB100,000,000 were
guaranteed by a third party and are repayable wholly in 2013.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and records of the Company
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the
previous years. Given the incomplete books and records and
the previous management of the Group did not response to
any request for information, it is impossible and impracticable
for the directors of the Company to ascertain the balances for
the current and the previous years. No representation is
therefore made by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, existence and accuracy of the borrowings as of
the date of approval of the financial statements.

()  EIEIRIRITIER

R-ZZE—ZTF+-_A=+—H RITEXK
A R #100,000,0007THE = F I HER
VAR =—F2HEE-

AN R M E2ARKE - AR E
EEREHIREHARR REUBLR
BAERMBRRRNENRBEFEZ T
B Rk - AR RM AT
EARAESEREEREY & O EE
AERNBER  ARREZTEERER
LHEANEETEAMRBEFRE 2R -
Bt - R BRRAEBRE - ARRE
EMTHRERRERE  FERER
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24. SHARE CAPITAL

2011 £ REAXZERERAF

For the year ended 31 December 2011 &2 —F——F+_-H=4+—HIFFZE

24, ®RAK

Share capital

Number of B 7=
shares HK$’000
B3 & E FHExT
Ordinary shares Rl
Authorised: JATE
As at 31 December 2010 and RZE—ZTF+-_A=+—HBK
31 December 2011 (HK$0.00001 each) —ZE——F+=-HA=+—H
(% 1%0.000017% 7T) 38,000,000,000 380
Share capital
Number of LA
shares HK$000 RMB’000
B% 17 2 B FHxT AR®TT
Issued: EEm
As at 1 January 2010 R-ZE—FTF—H—H
(HK$0.01 each) (FR%0.017% 7T) 551 — —
Subdivision of shares on RZE—LTF_A=HB5HF
3 February 2010 % 1% (& F£0.00001% 7T)
(HK$0.00001 each) 550,449 = =
Issue of shares on R-—ZE—ZFF=- AMAH
4 February 2010 BETRN 191,000 — —
Issue of shares on R-ZE—ZEF=ZA=+WMAH
24 March 2010 BITRG 15,879 — —
Issue of shares on R-_ZE—ZFF+A+H
Capitalisation Issue on BEARLEITR EITRMD
10 October 2010 757,122,121 8 7
Issue of shares on Listing on RZZE—FF+H=-+/\H
28 October 2010 EERBEITRG 252,620,000 2 2
As at 31 December 2010 and R-E—ZTF+_-_A=+—"HK
31 December 2011 —E——%+ZH=+—H 1,010,500,000 10 9
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The movements in the Company’s authorised and issued
ordinary share capital for the year ended 31 December 2010
are as follows:

(@) The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
15 October 2009 with an authorised share capital of
HK$380,000, divided into 38,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each in the Company. At the date of
incorporation, one share of HK$0.01 was allotted and
issued fully paid at par to a third party, which was
subsequently transferred to Mr. Zhao.

(b)  On 15 October 2009, Mr. Zhao transferred his 100%
shareholding in Global Milk to the Company pursuant to
a share sale and purchase agreement at the same date
in consideration of the Company issuing 550 ordinary
shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company, credited as fully
paid, to Mr. Zhao.

(0 On 3 February 2010, each ordinary share of HK$0.01 in
the authorised and issued share capital of the Company
was subdivided into 1,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.00001 (the “Share Subdivision”) such that its
resultant authorised share capital was HK$380,000
divided into 38,000,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.00001 each in the Company and its resultant
issued share capital was HK$5.51 divided into 551,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.00001 each in the Company.

(d)  On 4 February 2010, pursuant to an investment
agreement dated 20 November 2009 (the “Investment
Agreement”) entered into among certain investors (the
“Pre-IPO Investors”), Mr. Zhao CW, Mr. Zhao and the
Company, the Company issued an aggregate of 127,829
ordinary shares of HK$0.00001 each in the Company to
the Pre-IPO Investors, for a consideration of S$21.0
million (equivalent to RMB102,275,000).

ARTEERERTEBRARBE
—2-EE+-A=t+-ALFEE
M

(@ ARARR-_ZTZTAFE+A+EHH
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38,000,0000% & @ % © & #%0.01
B e REMAKZAH —K
0OVBITRMOIZEEHERA T
NEMBEREIT T —BE=F
Hie@EETHELEA

by RZZEZNF+ATHHE - BHE
ERBERBEI RN E E &
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REFRR0.01B T °
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B - & §%0.000015%8 T ([P 1 #*
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(e)  Pursuant to a share subscription agreement dated 20
November 2009 entered into between the Company and
Mr. Zhao, on 4 February 2010, the Company issued an
aggregate of 63,171 ordinary shares of HK$0.00001 each
to Mr. Zhao, for a consideration of RMB125,000,000.

(f)  On 24 March 2010, pursuant a second series funding
agreement entered into between the Company and the
Investors, the Company issued an aggregate of 15,879
ordinary shares of HK$0.00001 each to the Investors for
a consideration of S$$5.25 million (equivalent to
RMB25,505,000) (“Subscription Consideration”).

(@) Pursuant to the written resolutions of all shareholders
entitled to vote at general meetings of the Company,
which were passed on 10 October 2010, an amount of
approximately HK$7,571.22 standing to the credit of the
share premium account of the Company was capitalised
and applied to pay up in full at par a total of
757,122,121 new shares for allotment and issue to the
shareholders of the Company whose names appeared on
the register of members of the Company on 9 October
2010 (the “Capitalisation Issue”) and details of which are
set out in the paragraph headed “Further Information
about the Group  — Written resolutions of the
Shareholders passed on 10 October 2010” in Appendix
VI “Statutory and General Information” to the
Prospectus.

(h)  On 28 October 2010, the Company issued 252,620,000
new shares of HK$0.00001 each at issue price of
HK$4.39 per share pursuant to the Listing of the
Company’s shares.

All of the shares issued by the Company during the period
subsequent to the date of incorporation of the Company rank
pari passu with the then existing shares in all respects.

() MBEAQRAHBLEENR_ZTZTA
F+—A =+ HFZBRMDRBER
EFCOR-E—ZF - AMABE - AR
A E M T AT A RT63,1710%
TEA - FPR0.00001 T - RIE
A A R #125,000,0007T °
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N o (A8 E R A R #25,505,000
TTIRERED -
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As set out in note 16 of the Company’s interim report for the
six months ended 30 June 2011 which were authorized for
issue on 18 August 2011 (the “2011 Interim Report”), the
Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 10 October 2010 for the
purpose to reward the directors and employees who have
contributed to the Group and to encourage the directors and
employees to work towards enhancing the value of the
Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole, and will expire on 9 October
2020. Under the Scheme, the board of directors of the
Company may grant options to eligible employees, including
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for
shares in the Company.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme of the
Company shall not, in the absence of shareholders’ approval,
in aggregate exceed 10% in nominal amount of the aggregate
of shares in issue on the listing date.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each grantee under the
Scheme in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue for the time being.

Where any further grant of options to a director or employee
would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such
person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the shares
in issue, such further grant must be separately approved by
shareholders in general meeting with such director or
employee and his associates abstaining from voting. The
Company must send a circular to the shareholders disclosing
the identity of the director or employee in question, the
number and terms of the options to be granted (and options
previously granted to such director or employee) and such
other information required under the Listing Rules.
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At any time, the maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options which then have been
granted and have yet to be exercised under the Scheme shall
not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time
to time.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement on 28 April
2011 and the 2011 Interim Report, the Company granted to
eligible directors and employees (“Grantees”) 27,000,000 share
options (the “Share Options”) to subscribe for ordinary shares
of HK$0.00001 each in the Company, at an exercise price of
HK$3.512 per share. The Share Options vested on 28 October
2012 and the exercisable period of the Share Options was
from 28 October 2012 to 27 October 2014.

The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before
28 April 2011, the date of grant, was HK$3.15 per share.

Details of the movement of the Share Options during the
current year and the outstanding number of share options
balance as at 31 December 2011 are as follows:

Opening balance as at 1 January 2010
Share options grant during the year

Balance as at 31 December 2010 and
1 January 2011
Share options grant during the year

Balance as at 31 December 2011

FRR R BRE

FARHER

REMERE - JERTEMBERE R
o ) R AR IR R R B E 1T A B AR A
MTUEITHRO e EE AT EE
BARFEETRMNMZ30% °
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BRZZE——F+A=-+N\BEE M
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ARABOREZE T ——FMOA_+
NEEHBAH) ATe YT ER S KR35
BT e
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REEHEBBENT:

Number of

share options

BREHE

RZZE—ZTF—H—BZEFV&EH =
R-F-—FF+-A=1t—HRK

—E-TF-A—HZ&EH —

27,000,000

RZFE——F+=—A=+—BH2z#&% 27,000,000
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As further disclosed in the 2011 Interim Report, the total fair
values of the options determined at the date of grant using
the Binomial model were HK$28,701,000 (equivalent to
RMB23,868,000). The following assumptions were used to
calculate the fair value of share options:

Grant date share price H B E
Exercise price T1E(E
Expected volatility T8 2R 1R
Dividend yield g B %

Risk-free interest rate = g A &

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value
of the options. The variables and assumptions used in
computing the fair value of the Share Options are based on
the directors’ best estimate. Changes in variables and
assumptions may result in changes in the fair value of the
options.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 28 April
2011 and the 2011 Interim Report, 27,000,000 share options
were granted to directors and employees and the Share
Options would be vested on 28 October 2012. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the Company recognised
share-based payments expenses of approximately
RMB10,769,000 based on the vesting period (2010: RMB Nil)
and which has been charged to the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2011.
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As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and records of the Company
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the
previous years including the Scheme, books and records
relating to the Share Options and the details of the fair value
assessment underlying the Share Options. Given the
incomplete books and records and the previous management
of the Group did not response to any request for information,
it is impossible and impracticable for the directors of the
Company to ascertain the balances for the current and the
previous years. No representation is therefore made by the
directors of the Company as to the completeness, existence
and accuracy of the share-based payments transaction and
other information as disclosed in this note as of the date of
approval of the financial statements.
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During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group entered
into the following significant non-cash investing and financing
activities:

a. Immediately prior to 28 February 2010, being the maturity
date of the loans granted by the Investors under the
Investment Agreement, Mr. Zhao and one of the
Investors (“One Investor”) repaid the loans of
$$21,000,000 (approximately RMB102,275,000, which is
RMB102,018,000 after adjustment of exchange gain) and
the 2% processing fee payable of $$420,000
(approximately RMB2,040,000) for and on behalf of the
Company. Mr. Zhao and One Investor repaid
$$9,870,000 (approximately RMB47,948,000) and
S$11,550,000 (approximately RMB56,110,000),
respectively. Accordingly, there are amounts due to Mr.
Zhao of RMB47,948,000 and One Investor of
RMB56,110,000.

b. Pursuant to the Second Series Funding Agreement on 28
January 2010 (“SSFA"), the Investors would advance
Second Loan of S$15,750,000 and pay Subscription
Consideration to subscribe 15,879 ordinary shares at
total consideration of S$$5,250,000 (note 24 (f)). The
Investors charged the Group $$210,000 processing fee in
advance which represented portion of 2% on the
Second Loan as stated in the SSFA. Accordingly, the total
proceeds to be received by the Group under the SSFA
would be $$20,790,000.

The One Investor paid the Company a sum of
S$9,240,000 (approximately RMB44,888,000) for itself
and on behalf of the other Investors towards the loans
under SSFA. Further, the amount of S$$11,550,000
(approximately RMB56,110,000) owed to One Investor as
described in (a) above was settled by applying this
amount towards the remaining Second Loan of
S$6,300,000 (after deduction of processing fee of
S$210,000) and Subscription Consideration of
S$5,250,000.

—F-FHEFT-_A=+—HL#HF
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C. As described in (a) above, Mr. Zhao repaid $$9,870,000
(approximately RMB47,948,000) on behalf of the
Company. RMB10,132,000 was applied to settle
subscription money receivable from Mr. Zhao. The
Company then repaid the remaining RMB37,816,000 to
Mr. Zhao.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and records of the Company
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the
previous years. Given the incomplete books and records and
the previous management of the Group did not response to
any request for information, it is impossible and impracticable
for the directors of the Company to ascertain the amounts for
the current and previous years. No representation is therefore
made by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, existence and accuracy of the non-cash
transactions as of the date of approval of the financial
statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the employees of
the Group in the PRC are members of a state-managed
retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC Government.
The Group is required to contribute a specified percentage of
its payroll costs to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions under the scheme.

The amounts of contributions made by the Group in respect of
the retirement benefit scheme during the year ended 31
December 2010 are disclosed in note 9.
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27.

28.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and records of the Company
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the
previous years. Given the incomplete books and records and
the previous management of the Group did not response to
any request for information, it is impossible and impracticable
for the directors of the Company to ascertain the balances for
the current and the previous years. No representation is
therefore made by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, existence and accuracy of the retirement benefit
plans as of the date of approval of the financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Related parties of the Group
During the year ended 31 December 2010, the directors
of the Company consider that the following entities are

parties of the Group:

Name of related party

— Mr. Zhao CW (note i below)
— Dazheng Building (note i below)
— Daging Baixinyuan (note i below)
— Dazheng Real Estate (note ii below)
— Mr. Zhao (note i below)
— Mr. Xia (note iii below)
— Mr. Pan Xiao Fong (note iii below)
(“Mr. Pan")
— Heilongjiang Jintianran Dairy (note iii below)
Co. Ltd.
— Changging Dairy (note iii below)
— AETERABRKEERAT (note iv below)

(Daging Wan Long liu Sheng Trading
Co., Ltd.* "Daging Wanlong”)
— Global Dairy Products
(Canada) Inc.
("Global Dairy Canada”)

(note v below)

W The English name is for identification purpose only.
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28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a)

Related parties of the Group (Continued)

Notes:

Mr. Zhao CW, an executive director of the Company and the
father of Mr. Zhao (the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
during 2010 and 2011), is the executive chairman of Sino
("Sino Construction”). Mr. Zhao CW
stepped down from the position as chief executive officer of

Construction Limited

Sino Construction in April 2010. Sino Construction is listed on
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and Mr. Zhao
CW indirectly controls more than 30% of the equity interest in
Sino Construction. Dazheng Building and Daging Baixinyuan are
wholly owned subsidiaries of Sino Construction.

Mr. Zhao CW is the legal representative and the sole director of
and directly controls 20% of the equity interest in Dazheng Real
Estate.

Mr. Xia, the executive director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer
of the Company during 2010 and 2011, directly controlled 30%
of the equity interest in Jintianran Dairy prior to 23 December
2008 and Mr. Pan, the former executive director of Daging
Dairy, was the executive director and legal representative of
Jintianran Dairy between 19 December 2008 and 26 December
2009. Mr. Pan was also the sole shareholder and legal person
representative of Changqing Dairy from 7 August 2008 (date of
establishment) to Changqging Dairy Acquisition Date. Jintianran
Dairy ceased to be related party of the Group on 27 December
2009 and accordingly, the consolidated financial statements do
not disclose the transactions between the Group and lJintianran
Dairy subsequent to 27 December 2009 as related party
transactions.

Ms. Cao Yan Xia (%) and Mr. Li Zhan Jun (&) directly
controlled 100% of the equity interest eligible to vote at
general meetings of Daging Wanlong as to 2% and 98%,
respectively. Ms. Cao Yan Xia is the sister of Madam Cao Yan
of Mr. Zhao,
shareholder, executive director and Chief Executive Officer of the

Ming who is the mother the controlling

Company, and Mr. Li Zhan Jun is Ms. Cao Yan Xia’'s husband.
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28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(@) Related parties of the Group (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

V. Mr. Zhao, the executive Director and Chairman of the Company,
is a director of Global Dairy Canada and Madam Cao Yan Ming
(“Madam Cao”), Mr. Zhao's mother, controls all the shares
eligible to vote at general meetings of Global Dairy Canada.

(b) Significant related party transactions
Save as disclosed in notes 20 and 22 to the financial
statements, the Company did not have any significant
material related party transactions during the year.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration for key management is disclosed in
note 10.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and records of the Company
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and
previous years. Given the incomplete books and records and
the previous management of the Group did not response to
any request for information, it is impossible and impracticable
for the directors of the Company to ascertain the amounts for
the current and previous years. No representation is therefore
made by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, existence and accuracy of the disclosure of
related party transactions as of the date of approval of the
financial statements.
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BRKBEYE BER
RENEARHX

Capital expenditure in respect of
acquisition of property, plant and
equipment

— contracted for but not provided in the — T &T4)18 7 B 7% ] &

consolidated financial statements 8 R 1
— authorised for but not contracted for — BER#EE HKFT4
On 19 November 2010, the Company’s made the following S
announcement:
(@)  The Board has resolved on 18 November 2010 to approve, (a)

inter alia, the investment in and construction of a dairy
farm (the “Group’s Dairy Farm”) by Chang Qing Dairy, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, in Erhe
Township which is approximately 30 km north-east of
Wuchang City centre, Heilongjiang Province, the PRC (the
“Project”).

The Company will use approximately HK$350.9 million of
the net proceeds from the Hong Kong public offer and
International placing of the Company’s shares to fund the
Project which will comprise approximately RMB300
million for the acquisition of the land use rights of the
requisite parcel of land (including fees payable for the
grant of permission to occupy such land), the
construction of the Group’s Dairy Farm and the purchase
of dairy cows. The Group will also invest approximately
RMB40 million for the construction of a bio-organic
fertilizers and bio-gas power generation facility for the
Group's Dairy Farm.
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On 19 November 2010, the Company’s made the following
announcement (the “Announcement”): (Continued)

(b) In addition, Chang Qing Dairy has on 3 November 2010
entered into a framework agreement with the Wuchang
Government, pursuant to which Chang Qing Dairy will be
allowed to occupy 500 mu (approximately 333,333
square meters) forested land area located in Erhe
Township.

Details of the above are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 19 November 2010.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and records of the Company
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the
previous years. Given the incomplete books and records and
the previous management of the Group did not response to
any request for information, it is impossible and impracticable
for the directors of the Company to ascertain the balances for
the current and the previous years. No representation is
therefore made by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, existence and accuracy of the disclosure of
commitments as of the date of approval of the financial
statements.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and records of the Company
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the
previous years. Given the incomplete books and records and
the previous management of the Group did not response to
any request for information, it is impossible and impracticable
for the directors of the Company to ascertain the balances for
the current and the previous years. No representation is
therefore made by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, existence and accuracy of the disclosure of
contingent liabilities as of the date of approval of the financial
statements.
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Save as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the
Company had the following events after the end of the
reporting period:

Changes in the directors of the Company

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Mr. Chiang Chi Kin Stephen was appointed as
independent non-executive director of the Company with
effect from 28 November 2012 and resigned with effect
from 31 December 2013.

Mr. Ng was appointed as executive director of the
Company with effect from 5 September 2013.

Ms. Kou Mei In was appointed as non-executive director
and chairlady of the Company with effect from 5
September 2013.

Mr. Sze Lin Tang was appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 5
September 2013.

Mr. Qiu Xiaohua was appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 24
January 2014.

Mr. Zhang resigned as independent non-executive director
of the Company with effect from 15 May 2012.

Ms. Chan and Mr. Cheung resigned as independent non-
executive directors of the Company with effect from 14
June 2012 and 15 June 2012, respectively.

Mr. Fu resigned as an executive director of the Company
with effect from 1 October 2012.

Mr. Xia resigned as executive director and deputy chief

executive director of the Company on 3 January 2013.

Mr. Zhao and Mr. Fong resigned as executive director of
the Company with effect from 10 January 2013.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

Changes in the directors of the Company
(Continued)

(xi)  Mr. Zhao CW resigned as director of the Company with

effect from 21 January 2013.

Year 2012

(@) The 21 February 2012 announcement

On 21 February 2012 (after trading hours), the Company
entered into a memorandum of understanding with City
Skyline Capital Limited (“City Skyline”) in relation to the
proposed acquisition of the entire issued share capital of
Mingford Development Limited by the Company. To the
best of the knowledge, information and belief of the
and having made all
its ultimate
beneficial owners are independent third parties to the

directors of the Company,
reasonable enquires, City Skyline and

Company.

(b) The 22 and 29 March 2012 announcements

On 21 March 2012, the Predecessor Auditors tendered
its resignation as the auditors of the Company. The
trading of shares of the Company were suspended on 22
March 2012. The Board then established an independent
comprising the
independent non-executive directors and other qualified
independent individuals for the purpose of conducting a

review committee (the “IRC")

fresh review of the Potential Irregularities.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

Year 2012 (Continued)

(c)

(@)

(e)

The 13 April 2012 and 7 May 2012 announcements

On 13 April 2012, additional members were appointed
into the IRC and the Company appointed Optima Capital
Limited (“Optima”) as it's adviser to assist the Company
in handling the issue arising from the resignation of the
Predecessor Auditors and suspension of trading in the
shares of the Company.

On 7 May 2012, the Company appointed BDO Financial
Services Limited as the Company’s independent
professional adviser for the purpose of review the
Potential Irregularities.

The 20 June 2012 announcement

On 31 May 2012, an investor of the Company expressed
its disagreement to the Board in handling the affairs
after resignation of the Predecessor Auditors and the
measures taken by the Company towards resumption of
trading of shares of the Company.

On 19 June 2012, Optima resigned as the Company’s
financial adviser with effective from 22 June 2012.

The 9 November 2012 announcement

On 6 November 2012, the Company received a letter

from the Stock Exchange of informing the Company the
resumption conditions imposed on the Company.
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Year 2013

(7)

(9)

(h)

The 9 January 2013 announcement

On 2 January 2013, it was discovered that the heating
pipes of the offices of the subsidiary, Da Qing Dairy,
were cracked as result of severe coldness (below minus
32C) in the northern area of the PRC and pipeline
aging. Due to cracking of the heating pipes, the first and
second floors of the offices have been soaked, where
extensive damages were caused to the office facilities,
computers and documents in the offices of the finance,
logistics, administration and engineering departments of
the Group.

The 18 April 2013 announcement

On 8 February 2013, Mr. Zhao entered a sale and
purchase agreement (as supplemented and rectified by a
supplemental agreement dated 11 March 2013) pursuant
to which Mr. Zhao agreed to sell and the New
Controlling Shareholder agreed to purchase the sale
shares, representing approximately 52.16% of the entire
issued share capital of the Company at the
Consideration of HK$52,704,000 in cash, representing
HK$0.1 per sale share.

The 5 July 2013 Announcement

On 5 July 2013, the New Controlling Shareholder (i) had
received valid acceptances in respect of a total of
83,153,622 Shares under the share offer, representing
approximately 8.23% of the existing issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of this announcement
and (i) had not received any valid acceptance in respect
of the share options under the option offer.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

Year 2013 (Continued)
()  The 6 November 2013 announcement

On 6 November 2013, the Company announced it has
retained the Forensic Accountants for the purpose of
conducting the Forensic Investigation over the Potential
Irregularities.

With effective from 25 September 2013, each of Mr.
Zhao CW and Mr. Chiok Gay Shing Andrew ceased to be
a director of Global Milk, and Mr. Maung Shwe Linn and
Ms. Gao Mei Jie have been newly appointed to act as
directors of Global Milk.
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Year 2014
()  The 29 January 2014, 4 April 2014, 13 June 2014,

5 September 2014 and 28 November 2014
announcements

The Forensic Accountants has commenced its work
including but not limited to making inquiries and
performing preliminary research on the Potential
Irregularities. However, as most financial documents and
records were said to be damaged and irretrievable within
the Group due to the Incident and given the limited
knowledge of the New Management to the Potential
Irregularities, there is difficulty for the Company to
reconstruct or locate such records. The Company has
been making every effort to retrieve such information
from different sources and parties.

However, field works of the Forensic Accountants has yet
to commence as the Company encountered difficulties in
procuring the relevant parties including the original
management to cooperate to enable the field work of
the Forensic Accountants to be commenced. Having said
that, the Company tried its best efforts to resolve these
issues in order to allow the Forensic Accountants to start
its field work and to satisfy the resumption conditions
imposed by the Stock Exchange as soon as possible.

In order to resolve the above difficulties, the Company
engaged two PRC law firms with the objectives to: (i)
effect the change of legal representatives and board of
directors of the PRC Subsidiaries through legal means;
and (i) obtain the information requested by the Forensic
Accountants. The Forensic Accountants have also
adjusted the direction of its work plan to place more
reliance on the information to be obtained from the
third parties sources.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

Year 2014 (Continued)

()

The 29 January 2014, 4 April 2014, 13 June 2014,
5 September 2014 and 28 November 2014
announcements (Continued)

Nevertheless, in view of the uncooperative approach by
the existing management of the PRC Subsidiaries, the
Forensic Accountants and the Company experienced
considerable difficulties in obtaining the necessary
information for the purpose of the forensic review. The
Forensic Investigation is still ongoing though at a slow
pace in view of the difficulties involved.

According to the latest information available to the
Board, the Board has reasonable belief that the PRC
subsidiaries, namely Da Qing Dairy and Benniu Muye are
still operating their ordinary business while Chang Qing
Dairy was suspected to have suspended its production
recently.

The Company has served notice to require the board of
directors of the PRC Subsidiaries to effect the change of
their respective legal representatives to the person
nominated by the Board. However, the Board has not
received any positive feedback yet and the Board is
considering the available legal remedies to effect the
contemplated change of the respective legal
representatives.
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Year 2015

(k)

()

The 30 April 2015 announcement

Due to insufficient financial resources of the Company,
the Forensic Investigation has been temporarily halted.

While the Board will proceed with the legal remedies to
effect the change in the legal representatives of the PRC
Subsidiaries, the Board is not optimistic that it can be
done in a short period of time. In this regard, the Board
is exploring alternative approach to reflect the lack of
effective control on the PRC Subsidiaries.

The 19 May 2015 announcement

On 14 May 2015, the Stock Exchange issued a letter
informing the Company that in view of, among others,
the fact that: (a) all the Company’s businesses are
carried out by the PRC Subsidiaries of the Company; (b)
the Company has been facing difficulties in exercising
control over the PRC Subsidiaries; (c) the Company was
refused to access to their offices and factories and was
not provided with any information, books and records;
and (d) the request for changing the PRC Subsidiaries’
legal representatives was not entertained, the Company
has lost its control on the PRC Subsidiaries and the Stock
Exchange considers that the Company is unable to
maintain a sufficient level of operations or assets
required under rule 13.24 of the Listing Rules to support
a continued Listing. Accordingly, the Stock Exchange has
decided to place the Company in the first delisting stage
pursuant to Practice Note 17 of the Listing Rules.

The first delisting stage will expire on 13 November
2015. The Company is required to submit a viable
resumption proposal at least ten business days before the
expiry of the first delisting stage.
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Year 2015 (Continued)

(m)

(n)

The 1 June 2015 announcement

On 1 June 2015, the company secretary of the Company
was changed to Ms. Wong Po Ling, Pauline and the
address of principal place of business in Hong Kong was
changed to Room 2512, 25/F., Cosco Tower, 183
Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.

The 23 June 2015 announcement

On 4 May 2015, the New Controlling Shareholder
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with Global
Courage pursuant to which the New Controlling
Shareholder agreed to sell and Global Courage agreed to
purchase the sale shares, representing of approximately
60.39% of the entire share capital of the Company at a
consideration of approximately HK$61,019,000,
representing HK$0.1 per sale share.

Upon completion and as at the date of this joint
announcement, Global Courage and parties acting in
concert with it are interested in 610,193,622 Shares,
representing approximately 60.39% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company. Pursuant to Rule 26.1 of
the Takeovers Code, Global Courage is required to make
an unconditional mandatory general offer in cash for all
the issued shares other than those already owned by
Global Courage and parties acting in concert with it.

Head & Shoulders Securities Limited will, on behalf of
Global Courage, make the offer, which is unconditional
in all respects in compliance with the Takeovers Code, at
HK$0.10 per offer share, which is the same as the price
per sale share paid by Global Courage to the New
Controlling Shareholder under the sale and purchase
agreement. Veda Capital Limited, being the financial
adviser to Global Courage in respect of the offer, is
satisfied that sufficient financial resources are available to
Global Courage to satisfy full acceptances of the offer.
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Year 2015 (Continued)
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The 23 June 2015 announcement (Continued)

On the basis of the offer price of HK$0.10 per offer
share and 1,010,500,000 shares in issue as at the date
of this joint announcement, the entire issued share
capital of the Company is valued at approximately
HK$101.05 million. Excluding 610,193,622 sale shares
having been acquired by Global Courage pursuant to the
sale and purchase agreement, 400,306,378 Shares will
be subject to the offer. Assuming there is no change in
the issued share capital of the Company prior to the
making of the offer, the offer is valued at approximately
HK$40.03 million.

The 23 November 2015 announcement

On 19 November 2015, the Stock Exchange issued a
letter to the Company stating that: (i) the first delisting
stage has expired on 13 November 2015 but the
Company has not submitted any resumption proposal
before the deadline; and (ii) the Stock Exchange decided
to place the Company in the second delisting stage
under Practice Note 17 of the Listing Rules. The second
delisting stage will expire on 18 May 2016. The
Company should provide a viable resumption proposal at
least 10 business days before the second delisting stage
expires (i.e. 3 May 2016).
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As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and records of the Company
and the De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and the
previous years. Given the incomplete books and records and
the previous management of the Group did not response to
any request for information, it is impossible and impracticable
for the directors of the Company to ascertain the amounts for
the current and the previous years. No representation is
therefore made by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, existence and accuracy of the events after the
reporting period as of the date of approval the financial
statements.
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32. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

32. ERAARLQEMBMRRARNER

BRARRRAR_ZE—ZTF+_A=1—

Company at 31 December 2010 includes: BRI BAR A ROER DT :
2010
—E-TF
RMB’000
ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Unlisted investments in subsidiaries FEETHBRARIKE 1,101,183
1,101,183
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Trade and other receivables FE W B 5 BR 5 & A e UK FRIE 787
Bank balances and cash RITHE B NIRE 11,523
12,310
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade and other payables FET & 5 BR 5k I B Ath JE 5 K18 3,587
Amount due to a subsidiary FE— MW B ARz ZIE 810
4,397
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS HBI(&E) EETZHE 7,913
1,109,096
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERXRFEE
Share capital & 7% 9
Reserves ik 1 1,109,087
1,109,096

The statement of financial position and the statement of

changes in equity of the Company are
page 55 and 56 respectively.

ARFZHBRREERBEEDESD

set out in page 54, R R 548 - 558 K F56H o
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PARTICULARS OF THE COMPANY'S

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries which have been de-

consolidated from 1 January 2011 are as follows:

2011 £ REAXZERERAF

33. ARTFIMEBATFE

R-_T—ZTF+_A=+—H &Q7A

MEBARI(KR-_Z——F—A—HiE2
BOHGZEAAR)FBOT:

Issued and
Place and date of fully paid Attributable
incorporation/ share capital/ equity interest
Name establishment registered capital held Principal activities
AR BRTRARKRE/ BEZ
L B3t B R B R EMEAR BEkE TZEH
Directly held by the Company ARBIEERE
Global Milk The Republic of Singapore S$1 100 Investment holding
15 September 2006
0 3% A B 127 N3 7T REZER
—ZEZRFNATHR
Indirectly held by the Company ~ ARRIEEEA
Da Qing Dairy* The PRC RMB638,000,000 100 Manufacture, marketing and
29 October 1997 sales of dairy products
KB FL on I AR 1:638,000,0007T ABmBE MHEER
—ANtE+RZ+NE HE
Chang Qing Dairy** The PRC RMB10,000,000 100 Manufacture, marketing and
7 August 2008 sales of dairy products
BEILE R A R #10,000,0007C ABBE TEHER
—ZEZENFENALER HE
Benniu Muye ** The PRC RMB5,000,000 100 Dairy farming
25 November 2010
Rty & S B A R #5,000,0007T AFER
e B
3 Wholly foreign owned enterprise with limited liability. * EREEINEBERE -

LS Private limited liability company o LABREERRA ©
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RESULTS E
For the period from
8 October 2007 to
31 December 2007
HZETLF
Year ended 31 December +ANRZ
BEt-A=t-HLEE T
2011 2010 2009 2008 +-fA=+—~H
—E-—F ZE-FF —ZTNF —ZTITN\F Hi
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

AEETT ARBTT ARBTT AR®TR ARBETT

Revenue U 25 — 921,886 510,035 197,369 —
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRA(E18), /87 (1,606,997) 366,598 195,369 78,001 —
Income tax expenses P15 5 7 32 — (106,010) (61,900) (23,866) —
(Loss)/profit and total F/HAER)
comprehensive (loss)/income & F & 2|
for the year/period (B8), /Mzs@%E  (1,606,997) 260,588 133,469 54,135 —
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHAE
As 31 December
R+=-—A=+—8H
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
—E-—F ZEBE-TF ZETNF ZEENF =TTt

RME'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’'000
AE®ETT ARBTIT ARBTILT ARBTT AR®TT

Total assets BEBTE 3 1,882,322 830,211 530,955 23

Total liabilities EREE L (5,225) (291,316) (527,739) (476,820) (23)
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